

06/22/2022 1523-06 20-MED-02-0149 41776

CITY OF YOUNGSTOWN

AND THE

INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF FIREFIGHTERS (IAFF) LOCAL 312

SERB Case No. 2020-MED-02-0149

Effective June 1, 2020

through

May 31, 2023

TABLE OF CONTENTS

<u>Article</u>	Page
Preamble/Purpose	1
Article Recognition/Representation	1
Article 2 Non-Discrimination	1
Article 3 No Strike/No Lockout	2
Article 4 Management Rights	2
Article 5 Union Membership/Check-Off/Activity	3
Article 6 Severability, Legality, & Mid-Term Bargaining	3
Article 7 Bargaining Unit Seniority	4
Article 8 Labor Management Committee	5
Article 9 Health & Safety Committee	5
Article 10 Grievance And Arbitration	6
Article 11 Discipline	8
Article 12 Personnel File	10
Article 13 Promotions	10
Article 14 Transfers	12
Article 15 Reduction In Force & Recall	13
Article 16 Wages & Salaries	14
Article 17 Insurance Benefits	14
Article 18 Injured On Duty (IOD) Leave	16
Article 19 Occupational Disease	18
Article 20 Limited Duty	18
Article 21 Holidays	19
Article 22 Sick Leave	20
Article 23 Attendance/Safety Incentive Program	22
Article 24 Vacation	23
Article 25 Bereavement Leave	24
Article 26 Maternity/Paternity Leave	25
Article 27 Military Leave	25
Article-28 Honor Guard	25
Article 29 Longevity	25
Article 30 Hazardous Duty Pay	26
Article 31 Uniform Allowance	26
Article 32 Education Incentive/Requirements	27

Article 33 On-Call	28
Article 34 Cell Phones	28
Article 35 Jury Duty	29
Article 36 Compensatory Time (FLSA)	29
Article 37 Accumulated Time (Non-FLSA)	29
Article 38 Retirement	30
Article 39 Pension Pickup	31
Article 40 Air Pack Detail	31
Article 41 Firewatch	31
Article 42 Hours Of Work	31
Article 43 Overtime	32
Article 44 Out Of Class Pay	33
Article 45 Physical Fitness	34
Article 46 Driver's License	34
Article 47 Drug Testing / Employee Assistance Program	
Article 48 Maintenance Of Equipment & Quarters	35
Article 49 Contract Printing.	35
Article 50 Office Space	36
Article 51 Mandatory Mess	36
Article 52 Personal Vehicle	36
Article 53 Fitness For Duty Evaluations	36
Article 54 Paycheck Reporting/Disclosure	37
Article 55 Take Home City Vehicle	37
Article 56 Application Of Civil Service Law	37
Article 57 Duration	38
Signature Page	39
Appendix A Wage Scale	40
Appendix B Drug And Alcohol Testing	43
Appendix C IOD/Workers' Compensation Providers	49
Appendix D Grievance Procedure	54
Appendix E Insurance Benefits Schedule	58
Memorandum Of Understanding "Me Too" Clause	65
Memorandum Of Understanding	66

PREAMBLE/PURPOSE

Section 1. This Agreement is made between the City of Youngstown (hereinafter referred to as the "City") and Local 312 of the International Association of Firefighters, AFL-GIO-GLC (hereinafter referred to as the "Union"). This Agreement is intended to formalize the understandings reached by the negotiating committees of the City and the Union.

<u>Section 2</u>. This Agreement is made for the purpose of promoting cooperation and harmonious relations between the City and its firefighter employees.

<u>Section 3</u>. No changes in this Agreement shall be negotiated during the duration of this Agreement unless there is a written accord by and between the parties hereto to do so, which written accord shall contain a list of those matters to be subject to such negotiations. Any negotiated changes to be effective and incorporated in this Agreement must be in writing and signed by the parties.

ARTICLE 1 RECOGNITION/REPRESENTATION

<u>Section 1</u>. The City hereby recognizes Local 312 of the International Association of Firefighters, AFL-CIO-CLC, as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent for all sworn firefighters employed by the City, except for the Fire Chief, for the purpose of collective bargaining about any and all matters relating to wages, hours, and terms and conditions of employment.

Section 2. There shall be a maximum of two (2) stewards per turn to represent bargaining unit members. The Union will supply the City with the names of all stewards and keep this list of names current at all times. The investigation and writing of grievances may be done on City time. However, this investigation and writing shall not take precedence over normally scheduled work duties or any emergency, nor shall a steward leave his quarters for the purpose of investigating and writing a grievance. Any other Union activity on City time is subject to City approval.

<u>Section 3.</u> <u>Union Time.</u> The City will allow up to ninety-six (96) hours paid time off per calendar year for Union officials to conduct Union business and/or attend Union sponsored functions. The Fire Chief and Turn Commander must be given notification of time requested under this provision no less than seventy-two (72) hours prior to use; otherwise the Fire Chief may deny the use of Union time off.

<u>Section 4.</u> <u>President IAFF L-312</u>. The President of IAFF L-312, or a designee if he is not available, shall be released from duty for any Union-related business with the prior approval of his supervisor. Such approval shall not be unreasonably withheld. Leave for Union-related business may not create overtime.

ARTICLE 2 NON-DISCRIMINATION

<u>Section 1</u>. In the administration of this Agreement, neither the City, its agents, agencies, or officials, nor the Union, its agents or officers, will unlawfully discriminate against any firefighter

on the basis of age, sex, marital status, race, color, religion, national origin, military status, political affiliation, genetic information, or disability as provided under state or federal law.

<u>Section 2.</u> There shall be no intimidation or coercion of employees into joining the Union or continuing their membership therein. There shall be no discrimination, interference, restraint, or coercion by the City against any employee for his activity on behalf of or because of membership in the Union. There shall be no interference with the right of employees to become members or to continue as members of the Union.

<u>Section 3.</u> <u>Gender Neutral.</u> Within the provisions of this Agreement, it is the intent of the parties that all references to gender specific terms (e.g., his, he, etc.) be construed to include the opposite sex.

ARTICLE 3 NO STRIKE/NO LOCKOUT

<u>Section 1</u>. There shall be no strikes, work stoppages, interruptions or impeding of work. No officer or representative of the Union shall authorize, instigate, aid, or condone any such activities. No employee shall participate in any such activities.

Section 2. There shall be no lockouts.

ARTICLE 4 MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

<u>Section 1</u>. Except as restricted by the terms and conditions of the collective bargaining agreement, the City retains the following rights and responsibilities.

- A. Determine matters of inherent managerial policy which include, but are not limited to, areas of discretion or policy such as the functions and programs of the public employer, standards of services, its overall budget, utilization of technology and organizational structure.
- B. Direct, supervise, evaluate, or hire employees.
- C. Maintain and improve the efficiency and effectiveness of governmental operations.
- D. Determine the overall methods, process, means or personnel by which governmental operations are to be conducted.
- E. Suspend, discipline, demote or discharge for just cause or lay off, transfer, assign, schedule, promote or retain employees.
- F. Determine the adequacy of the work force.
- G. Determine the overall mission of the Employer as a unit of government.

- H. Effectively manage the work force.
- I. Take action to carry out the mission of the public employer as a governmental unit.

<u>Section 2</u>. The parties specifically agree and understand that the Youngstown-Civil-Service Commission has no jurisdiction to resolve disputes arising out of the interpretation or application of this collective bargaining agreement. Appeals of management's actions to suspend, discipline, demote, or discharge for just cause may be processed through the grievance procedure as outlined in this Contract.

ARTICLE 5 UNION MEMBERSHIP/CHECK-OFF/ACTIVITY

<u>Section 1</u>. All firefighters shall be eligible to become members of the Union and to retain such membership.

Section 2. Dues Deduction. The City, pursuant to law, will deduct monthly dues, assessments, and initiation fee as designated by the treasurer of the Union. This is to include uniformly required membership dues and assessments of the Firefighters Union. The deductions are to be made on the basis of individually signed authorization check-off cards unless otherwise provided by law. The City will deduct back Union dues upon obtaining an employee signature on an authorization card specifically for this purpose. The Union shall defend and indemnify the City against any and all claims or demands against it arising out of this deduction.

Section 3. Fair Share Fee. In recognition of the Union's services as the bargaining representative, members of the bargaining unit may share in the financial support of the Union by paying a service fee. The assessment and collection of all fair share fees including, but not limited to automatic payroll deductions, shall be in accordance with Ohio Revised Code, Section 4117.09(C). The deduction shall be transmitted to the Union no later than ten (10) days following the end of the first pay period of each month. The Union shall defend and indemnify the City against any and all claims or demands against it arising out of this deduction.

ARTICLE 6 SEVERABILITY, LEGALITY, & MID-TERM BARGAINING

Section 1. It is the intent of the City and the Union that this Contract and its various provisions shall be effective and carried out in accordance with applicable law. If any provision or part of this Contract is found to be illegal, contrary to law, and unenforceable by a court or by any tribunal of competent jurisdiction having authority to make that decision, that provision, article, or part of this Contract so held to be illegal shall alone be held null and void. The remainder of this Contract in all parts shall remain in full force and effect.

<u>Section 2</u>. In the event that any part of this Contract should be so found to be illegal or contrary to law, the City and the Union shall meet within fourteen (14) days of the finalization of the decision to discuss same and to determine whether a lawful alternative provision can be agreed upon. In the event this type of meeting should occur, the only matter to be discussed would be

the question of a lawful alternate provision. In the event the parties are unable to agree on an alternative provision to that which was invalidated, either party may execute a notice to negotiate with SERB for the purpose of addressing the invalidated provision and submit the matter to the dispute resolution procedures of R.C. 4117.14.

Section 3. Mid-Term Bargaining. Neither party is obligated to bargain over any matter already covered by the Agreement. Where a proposed action involved a mandatory subject of bargaining and is not already provided for by the Agreement, then the Employer, prior to taking such action, shall inform the Union of said proposed action prior to the date of implementation and the parties shall meet to negotiate the matter. Should the Employer implement a change prior to an agreement being reached, the Union may immediately submit the dispute for resolution through the arbitration procedure as set forth below. The arbitrator shall be selected pursuant to Article 10, Section 4, Step 4.

Not later than five (5) calendar days before the arbitration hearing referenced herein, each of the parties shall submit to the arbitrator and opposing party a written report summarizing the unresolved issue(s), the party's final offer as to the issue(s), and the rationale for that position. The arbitrator shall resolve the dispute between the parties by selecting, in an issue-by-issue basis, from between each party's final settlement offers, taking in to consideration the criteria set forth under Ohio Revised Code section 4117.14(G)(7). The arbitrator shall make written findings of fact and promulgate a written opinion and order upon the issues presented to the arbitrator. All fees and expenses of the arbitrator will be borne by the loser of any arbitration under this Section 3.

ARTICLE 7 BARGAINING UNIT SENIORITY

<u>Section 1.</u> <u>Definition.</u> Bargaining unit seniority is computed as the length of accumulated, uninterrupted, full-time service as a sworn Youngstown firefighter with the Employer.

<u>Section 2</u>. A seniority roster shall be established showing each employee's length of service as a sworn Youngstown firefighter. The City shall post this roster in a conspicuous place in the Fire Department and shall update it at least every six (6) months.

Section 3. Seniority is broken by:

- A. A voluntary termination (resignation);
- B. Discharge for cause;
- C. Failure to return to work after layoff within fourteen (14) days after notification to return by registered mail addressed to the employee's last address on City records, unless unable to return due to illness or disability or unless such time is extended by the City.
- <u>Section 4.</u> An employee suspended for thirty-one (31) days or more does not accumulate seniority during the period of suspension. If through the grievance procedure the suspension is reduced or overturned, the employee's seniority shall not be affected.

ARTICLE 8 LABOR MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

- <u>Section 1</u>. Each of the parties acknowledges the rights and responsibilities of the other party and agrees to discharge-its-responsibility-under-this-Contract.—The-Union,-its-officers, representatives, and members are bound to observe the provisions of this Contract. The City, its officers, and representatives are bound to observe the provisions of this Contract.
- <u>Section 2</u>. The parties agree to establish a Labor Management Committee (LMC) that will provide a forum for labor and management concerns. Through the LMC forum the parties will hopefully avoid disputes over the interpretation of contract language and discuss any new proposals for the organization and/or administration of the fire service, including changes in rules and regulations, standard operational procedures, and general orders.
- <u>Section 3</u>. The Committee shall meet within fourteen (14) calendar days of the implementation of a proposed change. Notice to meet shall come from the Fire Chief's office no later than fourteen (14) calendar days prior to implementation.
- <u>Section 4.</u> The Committee shall meet no less than once every six (6) months. The Committee shall be comprised of two (2) management designees, one of which shall be the Fire Chief and two (2) labor designees. In the event of a tie vote among the designees, the Mayor or his designee shall break the tie.
- <u>Section 5</u>. Emergency changes shall be the subject of a Committee meeting within fourteen (14) calendar days after implementation.
- <u>Section 6</u>. Either party may call for a meeting. When requested, a meeting shall convene within fourteen (14) calendar days.

ARTICLE 9 HEALTH & SAFETY COMMITTEE

- <u>Section 1</u>. The Chief shall assign a Safety Officer for the department who shall coordinate safety meetings at least once a month. There shall be one (1) safety officer assigned to suppression at all times. Out-of-rank pay to the battalion chief's rate will be paid in the absence of the assigned safety officer.
- <u>Section 2</u>. The City shall continue to provide each member assigned to suppression with their own personal mask for the Self-Contained Breathing Apparatus. The City also agrees to supply P.A.S.S. devices for each Self-Contained Breathing Apparatus unit.
- <u>Section 3</u>. The City agrees to furnish and to maintain in safe condition all tools, facilities, vehicles, supplies, and equipment required to safely carry out the duties of each employee.
- <u>Section 4.</u> The City shall continue to provide Hepatitis B and C screenings and necessary inoculations to those employees desiring such. The Battalion Chief assigned as the department

safety officer shall ensure that all personnel are immunized as stated herein and that they have current CPR training. The Safety Chief shall maintain records for such, and shall develop a departmental exposure control plan.

<u>Section 5</u>. The City shall have available for emergency use twelve (12) sets of bunker coats/pants and helmets. All firefighters assigned to suppression shall have back-up gloves/hoods. An employee will suffer no loss in straight time pay if waiting on back up gear.

ARTICLE 10 GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION

<u>Section 1.</u> <u>Definition.</u> A grievance is any dispute between an employee and the City or its representative involving an allegation that there has been a breach, misinterpretation, or improper application of this Agreement.

<u>Section 2</u>. The applicable procedures of the contract will be followed for the settlement of grievances. Grievances shall be processed on the forms that appear in Appendix D of this agreement. If the deadline for acting within the grievance procedure falls on a non-business day, the applicable timeline shall be extended to the next business day.

Section 3. Procedure Generally. A grievance can be started by the employee or his representative starting at Step 1, or by the employee's representative starting at Step 2. Grievances must be initiated within fourteen (14) calendar days following the occurrence or the discovery of the occurrence giving rise to the dispute. Nothing in this article shall be interpreted as discouraging or prohibiting informal discussions regarding a dispute prior to the filing of the grievance.

Grievances involving discipline may be initiated at Step Three (3) of the grievance procedure. Grievances involving termination may proceed directly to arbitration subject to the applicable time limits.

It is acknowledged by the parties that this is a final and binding grievance procedure as defined in Ohio Revised Code, Section 4117.10, and that specific provisions of this Contract are to be resolved through the procedures set out in Section 4117.10, excluding Civil Service from jurisdiction as to any specific contractual provisions.

Section 4. Procedure.

<u>Step 1</u>. If an employee has a dispute with the City, he may elect to discuss said matter with his immediate supervisor within five (5) calendar days of the triggering event. The supervisor shall respond to the employee within five (5) calendar days from the date that the grievance is discussed.

<u>Step 2</u>. If the employee is not satisfied with the response of the City given at Step 1, the employee or the Union can submit the grievance in writing to the Fire Chief or his authorized representative within fourteen (14) calendar days of the date of the Step 1 answer, or if the grievance was initiated at Step 2, within fourteen (14) calendar days of the triggering event.

All documents to be considered in Step 2 must be dated, appropriately signed, and timely filed.

When the Fire Chief receives the grievance, he or his authorized representative shall arrange a meeting with the grievant and/or the Union within fourteen (14) calendar days to discuss the grievance or render a decision granting/denying the grievance.—If-a meeting-is-held, the City shall render its decision in response to the grievance no later than seven (7) calendar days after the above-prescribed meeting. This decision must be in writing and signed by the Fire Chief or his authorized representative.

If the employee or the Union is not satisfied with the Chief's decision, they may process the grievance within fourteen (14) calendar days to the Mayor's designee or to any person designated as the City's representative by the Mayor.

Step 3. Mavor's Designee. Within fourteen (14) calendar days from the receipt of the grievance, the Mayor's designee shall either grant the remedy requested by the employee, deny the grievance, or hold a hearing to evaluate and decide the grievance. This hearing may be attended by the grievant and/or representative of the Union, the Fire Chief or his authorized representative, and a person designated to act for the City by the Mayor.

Should a hearing occur, within ten (10) calendar days, the Mayor's designee shall make a decision in writing and transmit a copy of same to the Union and the affected employee(s).

If the City fails to respond within the prescribed time limits at any point in the process, the grievance may be advanced to the next step in the grievance procedure.

Step 4. Arbitration. Within thirty (30) calendar days of the receipt of the decision of the Mayor's designee or within thirty (30) calendar days from the date the City's representative should have rendered a decision, the grievant may proceed to arbitration by notifying the City in writing. This appeal to arbitration is conditioned on the approval of the President of the Union.

Within ten (10) calendar days from the receipt of the signed appeal for arbitration from the Union President/Designee, the parties shall confer for the purpose of selecting an arbitrator. If the parties fail to agree, the City or the Union may jointly request a panel of fifteen (15) Ohio based arbitrators from the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service (FMCS). Once FMCS submits the panel of arbitrators to the parties, each party shall have fourteen (14) calendar days from the mailing date in which to strike any name to which it objects, number the remaining names to indicate the order of preference, and return the list to the FMCS. Each party may reject up to one (1) list and request another list at the rejecting party's expense.

The City shall furnish an appropriate room and facilities for the arbitration hearing, and if this involves costs, said costs shall be borne equally by the City and the Union. The arbitrator's fees and other expenses shall be borne by the loser of the arbitration, except that if the arbitrator renders a split decision, the arbitrator's fees and other expenses will be shared equally by the parties. The cost associated with the appearance of witnesses, attorney, the production of documents or other fees, whether they be for consultants or otherwise, shall be borne solely by the party which calls the witnesses or employs the attorneys or consultants.

The arbitrator's decision shall be binding upon the City, the Union, and the grievant. The authority of the arbitrator shall be subject to the following limitations:

- A. The arbitrator shall have no power to add to, delete from, or modify any of the terms of this contract. The arbitrator shall have no power to establish language for this agreement or to change any existing wage rates or fringe benefits.
- B. The arbitrator shall have no authority to impose any obligations upon the City unless required by provision of this contract.
- C. All findings and decisions for back pay by the arbitrator shall be limited to the amount of wages that the employee would have earned from the City of Youngstown had he not been disciplined, and the actual monetary damages suffered by reason of the discipline, set-off, if any, shall be in accordance with law.

<u>Section 5.</u> <u>Arbitration Timelines.</u> All initial requests for a FMCS panel shall be submitted to FMCS within thirty (30) calendar days of the grievance being submitted for arbitration or the grievance will be considered untimely.

<u>Section 6.</u> <u>Right to Union Representation</u>. A Union representative or the Union attorney may be present at each step in the grievance procedure.

ARTICLE 11 DISCIPLINE

<u>Section 1</u>. The tenure of every employee subject to the terms of this Agreement shall be during good behavior and efficient service. No employee shall be reduced in pay or position (including working suspensions), fined (i.e., forfeiture of accrued leave), suspended, discharged, or removed except for grounds stated in Section 2 of this article. The Employer may take disciplinary action against any employee in the bargaining unit for just cause. Forms of disciplinary action are:

- Letter of instruction and cautioning.
- Written reprimand.
- Suspension without pay, at the option of the employee, and with concurrence of the Employer, accrued vacation or holiday time may be forfeited equal to the length of the suspension. Record of suspension will be maintained.
- Suspension of record (i.e., paper suspension).
- 5. Fines (i.e., forfeiture of accrued leave).
- 6. Reduction in pay and rank.
- 7. Discharge.

An employee who is given a working suspension (i.e., suspension of record) shall be required to report to work to serve the suspension and shall be compensated at the regular rate of pay for hours worked. The working suspension shall be recorded in the employee's personnel file in the same manner as other disciplinary actions having the same effect as a suspension without pay for the purpose of recording disciplinary action.

The Employer shall initiate applicable disciplinary action within thirty (30) days of knowledge of the offense or completion of the investigation, as applicable.

<u>Section 2</u>. Violations of departmental rules, regulations, or SOPs, including but not limited to, incompetency, inefficiency, dishonesty, drunkenness, immoral conduct, insubordination, discourteous treatment of the public, neglect of duty, absence without leave, substance abuse, failure of good behavior, or any conduct unbecoming a representative of the Employer, or any other acts of misfeasance or malfeasance or nonfeasance, shall be cause for disciplinary action.

<u>Section 3</u>. Except in instances where an employee is charged with a serious offense, discipline will be applied in a corrective, progressive, and uniform manner in accordance with the Employer's policy. Progressive discipline shall take into account the nature of the violation, the employee's record of discipline, and the employee's record of conduct.

<u>Section 4.</u> Whenever the Employer determines that an employee may be suspended, reduced in pay and rank, or terminated, a predisciplinary meeting will be scheduled to investigate the matter. The Employer shall notify the employee and the Union in writing of the charges against the employee and what form of discipline may be imposed. This notification shall also include the time and place of a predisciplinary meeting, to be held with at least twenty-four (24) hours notice, between management and the employee.

The employee may be accompanied by a Union steward or officer during the predisciplinary meeting. Should the employee not wish to be represented by the Union, a Union Representative shall be allowed in the disciplinary meeting as an observer only. The employee shall have an opportunity in this meeting to respond orally to the charges prior to discipline being imposed. Any resolution to the disciplinary action by the employee and the Employer shall be consistent with the terms and provisions of this Agreement. An employee who is disciplined may file a grievance in accordance with the grievance procedure herein.

<u>Section 5</u>. Appealable disciplinary actions must be filed at the appropriate level of the grievance procedure within fourteen (14) calendar days from receipt of the notice of discipline by the employee. Disciplinary action not involving a loss in pay may be appealed through the grievance procedure, but are not subject to the arbitration procedure.

<u>Section 6.</u> Records of disciplinary action shall cease to have force and effect or be considered in future discipline matters, provided that there has been no other intervening discipline, according to the following schedule:

Letters of Instruction and Cautioning Written Reprimands Suspensions, Fines, and Reductions twelve (12) months twenty-four (24) months thirty-six (36) months Discipline for drug and alcohol-related offenses or violations of the parties' drug and alcohol testing policy are not subject to the twenty-four (24)/thirty-six (36) month provisions listed above and shall be considered in all future discipline for a period of ten (10) years.

ARTICLE 12 PERSONNEL FILE

<u>Section 1</u>. The City shall compile and maintain an official personnel file for each employee. This file shall be in the custody of the Fire Chief. The personnel file shall contain the name, address, social security number and other identifying information.

<u>Section 2</u>. Should a public records request for a personnel file be made, the City agrees to redact the employee's address and social security number.

<u>Section 3</u>. The employee shall have the right to inspect his file at any reasonable time in the presence of the Chief or his designee. No document shall be removed from the file without the consent of the Fire Chief.

<u>Section 4</u>. Copies of documents from the file shall be made available to the legal representative of the employee or through an authorized representative of the Union, upon the approval of the Fire Chief, which approval shall not be unreasonably denied.

<u>Section 5</u>. An employee shall have the right, after making a written request, to insert into his personnel file any legally proper material that he feels would tend to clarify statements made in documents in the file and to insert written counter statements as to those conclusions.

ARTICLE 13 PROMOTIONS

Section 1. Whenever the City determines that a vacancy in the promotional ranks exists, a request for a promotional appointment or a promotional examination, as applicable, will be submitted to the Civil Service Commission within fourteen (14) calendar days of such determination. After the list has been certified to the appointing authority, the employee ranking highest on the applicable list shall be appointed within fourteen (14) days. After such determination has been made and within ninety (90) days following the Fire Chief's request for examination, an examination for the vacancy shall be scheduled. In the event that a valid promotional list is due to expire, the Fire Chief shall notify the Civil Service Commission in writing of the need for an examination no less than 120 days before the promotional list expires. The Fire Chief shall send a copy of the written notice to the Union. It is the intent of the parties to prevail over R.C. 124.45-124.48 to the extent that this article is in conflict with those requirements. The following criteria shall be used to determine eligibility for bargaining unit members seeking to fill promotional vacancies:

A. <u>Lieutenants</u>. Any employee must be a step six (6) employee as of the date of the promotional exam to be eligible to take the Lieutenant promotional exam.

B. <u>Inspector</u>. An employee who is promoted/assigned to an Inspector position shall advance one (1) step on the salary/wage schedule (Appendix A), as provided below, and shall be required to remain in that assignment for a period of five (5) years, unless otherwise agreed to by the Fire Ghief for a lesser period of time.

Investigators and Inspectors may also be filled by assignment of the Fire Chief. If there are no applicants for a promotional examination for Inspector, an involuntary assignment of the least senior employee shall be made. Any employee so assigned that is a step employee will be advanced one (1) pay step if and when that employee obtains State Certification for Inspector. Subsequent hiring of additional employees after an involuntary assignment shall not act as a waiver of the mandatory five (5) year requirement.

Any employee bidding or transferring out of inspection shall be required to relinquish the step advancement associated with entry into inspection or attainment of inspection certification.

A promoted or assigned Inspector must obtain Inspector certification within eighteen (18) months of the date of appointment in order to be qualified to retain the position. At the discretion of the Chief, a promoted or assigned employee may be returned to his former position if the certification is not timely obtained, without right of appeal, and provided he is qualified to perform the essential functions of the former position. A promoted or assigned employee not qualified to return to his former position or who fails to timely obtain the required certification may be terminated from employment without right of appeal.

- C. <u>Chief Inspector</u>. An employee must have one (1) year in rank as an Inspector to be eligible to take the exam for Chief Inspector under Section 4.
- D. <u>Captain</u>. A Lieutenant shall have a minimum of one (1) year in rank to be eligible to take the test for Captain. Additionally, an Inspector must first have served a minimum of one (1) year in the rank of Lieutenant in suppression to be eligible to take the exam for Captain.
- E. <u>Chief Fire Investigator</u>. Upon the departure of the current incumbent, the Chief Fire Investigator position shall be filled at the discretion of the Fire Chief pursuant to Section 4.
- F. <u>Battalion Chief.</u> An employee must have served one (1) year in the rank of Captain in the suppression division to be eligible to take the test.
- G. There shall be no practical testing for the Lieutenant's promotional examination. The City shall provide officer training for eligible candidates for Lieutenant and Battalion Chief within ninety (90) days of the certification of a new civil service promotional list.

<u>Section 2</u>. If a promotional eligibility list for a lower rank expires after the determination and declaration of a vacancy in the next higher rank, and prior to the completion of the examination/promotion process for the next highest rank, the expired list for the lower rank will be utilized once the promotion to the higher rank has occurred, and the Chief of Fire and the Mayor determine that a vacancy in the lower rank exists and is to be filled.

<u>Section 3</u>. Nothing herein shall preclude the Chief from being able to temporarily assign a firefighter to Inspection during any interim period where assistance within Inspection is determined necessary. Any firefighter so temporarily assigned shall not receive an increase in compensation but will remain eligible for call out for fire suppression services.

<u>Section 4.</u> <u>Chief Inspector/Chief Investigator Promotion and Assignment.</u> Upon the departure of the incumbent Chief Inspector and/or Chief Investigator, the parties agree to the following provisions relative to these positions.

If the position of Chief Investigator is filled by assignment from the Fire Chief, the pay rate will be calculated as follows: if filled by a Lieutenant, the pay rate to the assigned employee will be advanced one (1) pay grade to Captain rate; if filled by a top step fire fighter, the pay rate to the assigned employee will be advanced one (1) grade to Lieutenant's pay rate for a period of one (1) year. After one (1) year of continuous service in that position, the assigned employee will then be advanced to the Captain pay rate. If the position is filled by an employee, the employee will first be advanced to the Step 10 pay rate for a period of one (1) year, next to the Lieutenant pay rate for a period of three (3) years, and finally to the Captain pay rate following the completion of the three (3) year period referenced previously.

The Chief Inspector shall continue to be a tested position with a minimum of one (1) year as an Inspector as a prerequisite. However, if filled by a Lieutenant, the pay rate of the person occupying the position will be advanced one (1) pay grade to Captain's rate. If filled by a top step fire fighter, the pay rate to the assigned employee will be advanced one (1) grade to Lieutenant's pay rate for a period of one (1) year. After one (1) year of continuous service in that position, the assigned employee will then be advanced to the Captain pay rate. If the position is filled by an employee, the employee will first be advanced to the Step 10 pay rate for a period of one (1) year, next to the Lieutenant pay rate for a period of three (3) years, and finally to the Captain pay rate following the completion of the three (3) year period referenced previously.

ARTICLE 14 TRANSFERS

<u>Section 1</u>. The parties agree that the following procedure will be used to fill vacancies through transfers of existing personnel.

<u>Section 2</u>. <u>Posting.</u> The City shall post initial vacancies within fourteen (14) calendar days of occurrence for seven (7) calendar days. Resulting vacancies must be anticipated.

Section 3. Filling Vacancies. The City will fill vacancies, using the request for transfer form on file in the Fire Chief's office, with the senior qualified employee having preference not less than seven (7) days after the bid period. All newly promoted officers may be appointed to a company or unit at the discretion of the Chief.

<u>Section 4.</u> Changes in Hours. No employee shall have his hours of employment changed from forty (40) to fifty-one (51) or vice-versa more than once per year without mutual consent.

<u>Section 5.</u> <u>Unrequested Change in Turns</u>. Unrequested transfers between turns, including forty (40) hour employees, can only involve the least senior qualified employee(s).

Section 6. Operational Needs Transfers. Notwithstanding the procedure and limitations above, the Chief retains the right to transfer where:

- A. Special expertise, unsuitability or special needs of the department make an exception necessary.
- B. The employee has received any suspension during the previous twelve (12) months.

<u>Section 7.</u> <u>Special Assignments</u>. The assignment of personnel to special divisions, bureaus or units is left solely to the discretion of the Chief.

ARTICLE 15 REDUCTION IN FORCE & RECALL

<u>Section 1</u>. It is the intent of the parties, through this article, to establish an objective procedure by which a reduction in force may be accomplished, should the need arise, and supersede the provisions of ORC 124.321 to 124.328, 124.3, OAC 123: 1-41-01 to 123: 1-41-22, and all local rules and regulations of the City of Youngstown Municipal Civil Service Commission governing work force reductions.

<u>Section 2.</u> <u>Notice.</u> Whenever the Employer determines that a reduction in force (i.e., layoff or job abolishment) is necessary, the Employer shall notify the affected employee(s) in writing at least seven (7) calendar days prior to the date of the reduction.

<u>Section 3.</u> Procedure. When the Employer determines that a reduction in force or layoff is to be made within the force, it shall occur by classification seniority within the affected classification. Classification seniority is computed as the length of accumulated, uninterrupted, full-time service of an employee within a specific classification in which a reduction in force or layoff is to occur. The member with the least amount of classification seniority shall be laid off first.

A bargaining unit member residing in a higher classification (e.g., captain, lieutenant, etc.) may utilize his bargaining unit seniority to displace a member with less bargaining unit seniority residing in a lower classification. Bargaining unit seniority, for the purposes of reduction and recall, is calculated in accordance with Article 7 of this Agreement.

Section 4. Recall. A bargaining unit member in the classification of Firefighter that is laid off under this article shall remain on the layoff list for three (3) years. A bargaining unit member residing in higher classification (e.g., captain, lieutenant etc.) laid off in rank under this article shall remain on the layoff list indefinitely and shall be eligible for a recall for the duration of their employment with the city. When the employer determines that it wishes to recall laid off members of the bargaining unit, the City shall recall from that list in reverse order in which the member was laid off.

Employees shall be given fourteen (14) calendar days advance notice of recall and such notice shall be sent to the employee's last address on record. It shall be the responsibility of the employee(s) to keep the Employer advised of his current address and maintain any required licensure or certification required for their position. Employees who refuse recall shall lose all seniority and recall rights. Employees who fail to remain qualified to perform the duties of their position will lose all seniority and recall rights.

The City and the Union agree that this amendment to Article 15, Section 4 shall be applied retroactively to cover the nine (9) bargaining unit members that were laid off in rank on October 13, 2018. The following individuals shall have indefinite recall right as described above and shall be listed for (in order) at the top of the Captain recall list: Justin Quarles, Timothy Hrina, Courtney Kelly. The following individuals shall have indefinite recall rights as described above and shall be listed (in order) at the top of the Lieutenant recall list, Tommy Gibbs, Jr., Brian Charles, Jacob W. Emery, Jonathan Racco, Kyle Trimble, Dan Quayle.

ARTICLE 16 WAGES & SALARIES

Section 1. Rates of Pay. Wage rates for bargaining unit members are listed in Appendix A.

Effective the first full pay period following January 1, 2021, all bargaining unit members shall receive a one percent (1.0%) general wage increase. All retroactive pay adjustments are to be paid within thirty (30) days of the parties' execution of the 2020-2023 CBA.

Effective the first full pay period following January 1, 2022, all bargaining unit members shall receive a two percent (2.0%) general wage increase, except as set forth under Appendix A.

Effective the first full pay period following January 1, 2023, all bargaining unit members shall receive a two and one-half percent (2.5%) general wage increase, except as set forth under Appendix A.

ARTICLE 17 INSURANCE BENEFITS

<u>Section 1.</u> <u>Health Insurance</u>. The City of Youngstown shall continue to provide to each bargaining unit member and his family medical, hospitalization and prescription insurance coverages and benefits comparable to the summary of coverages and benefits attached hereto as Appendix E or as otherwise established by a health insurance review committee (HIRC).

<u>Section 2.</u> <u>Vision/Dental Coverage</u>. The City agrees to continue the program of providing single coverage for existing vision and dental insurance except that this benefit will be entirely funded and administered by the City, except as stated herein.

<u>Section 3.</u> <u>Life/ADD Coverage</u>. The City will continue the current life insurance (Travelors or comparable) of twenty thousand dollars (\$20,000) (active) and four thousand seven hundred fifty dollars (\$4,750) (retired).

The City agrees to continue to provide an additional accidental death and dismemberment insurance through the Police and Fire Fighters Insurance Association in the amount of thirty thousand dollars (\$30,000) for all active bargaining unit members.

The Union-agrees-to-provide a-bargaining-unit-member as an-administrator of the accidental deathand dismemberment insurance.

Section 4. Insurance Waiver. If any employee elects to refuse the coverage provided in Section 1, then that member shall be paid the premium saved by the City, not to exceed the amounts set forth below. Such election is contingent upon the employee documenting any and all existence of alternative health care coverage and executing a waiver of the City's group plan and further waiving any action for damages and reimbursement resulting from such election. Payment for those employees making such an election shall be one hundred and sixty-seven dollars and seventy-two cents (\$167.72) per month for the duration of this agreement, payable in monthly increments.

A bargaining unit employee whose spouse or parent works for the City shall not be eligible for this incentive. Employees and the City shall abide by all COBRA rules and regulations. Should the City policy regarding the payment of employees whose spouse or parent works for the City change, this change shall be incorporated as a part of the collective bargaining agreement.

<u>Section 5.</u> Employee Contributions. Employees shall contribute ten percent (10%) of the total premium for medical, hospitalization, prescription, vision, and dental coverage.

Section 6. The City shall designate a full-time employee to act as a liaison between the Union and any insurance carrier for all insurance, workers' compensation, and injured on duty pay.

<u>Section 7</u>. The Union acknowledges the Employer's right to determine to provide coverage through a selected insurance provider, a consortium, to self-insure, or to utilize a combination of the preceding.

The Union agrees that the City may create and maintain a health insurance review committee (HIRC) for the purpose of studying and recommending cost containment programs for medical, prescription, and dental coverages, reviewing usage, and recommending changes to the plan and benefit levels. Once created, the Union agrees to participate in the committee. The committee shall consist of one (1) representative from each of the bargaining units, one (1) non-bargaining unit employee, and a number of management representatives of the Employer equivalent to the total number of City bargaining unit representatives participating. The insurance committee shall have the authority to recommend alterations to the plan and benefit levels and/or recommend adjustments to coverage levels through majority vote.

Specifically, the committee may recommend any of the following options:

- A. To keep the same plan and/or benefit levels and pass on any cost increases to the parties consistent with the levels set forth in Section 5 of this article; or
- B. To change the plan and/or alter the benefit levels so that there is no increase in the cost of the plan; or

C. To change the plan and/or alter the benefit levels to reduce or minimize the increase in the cost of the plan to be passed on to the parties.

Recommendations of the committee will not be unilaterally changed by the City. Recommendations of the committee and Employer actions to carry out those recommendations are final and shall not be subject to the grievance procedure. If, however, the committee makes no recommendation by April 15 or fifteen (15) calendar days prior to the plan expiration date, as applicable, for the following plan year, the City may unilaterally adjust the plan and benefit levels, and cost increases, if any, will be passed on to the parties consistent with the levels set forth in Section 5 of this article. Recommendations of the committee and Employer actions to carry out those recommendation, or actions of the Employer in the event that the committee fails to act, are final and shall not be subject to the grievance procedure.

<u>Section 8</u>. Each new firefighter will be provided a full and complete copy of the insurance policy. Within thirty (30) days of any change in carrier coverage, the City will also provide each firefighter with all such changes of coverage policy provisions.

ARTICLE 18 INJURED ON DUTY (IOD) LEAVE

<u>Section 1</u>. Injured on Duty leave may be granted to any employee who suffers an injury in the course and scope of City employment that is certified by the City as a work-related injury to the Bureau of Workers' Compensation or is subsequently allowed by the Bureau. Certification will not be unreasonably withheld by the City.

The employee shall be paid Injured on Duty (IOD) pay from the City instead of Temporary Total Benefits from the Bureau of Workers' Compensation but only if the employee obtains medical treatment from a schedule of providers designated by the City (Appendix C). An employee who chooses to seek treatment from a medical provider who is not included in the City's schedule of providers will not be entitled to IOD, but will be entitled to any benefits the Bureau of Workers' Compensation will allow. The City reserves the right to add or delete health providers from the City's schedule of providers.

Section 2. Procedure. An employee claiming to be injured on duty shall notify his immediate supervisor by the end of the employee's shift of an alleged work place injury which occurred during that shift in order for the City to consider certification of the alleged injury. The employee may report an injury without actually filing for IOD/Workers' Compensation for up to the time limits allowed by the Bureau of Workers' Compensation. Once an employee files for IOD/Workers' Compensation, IOD will not commence until all City required documentation is received by the City. Until such time, the employee will be continued on payroll with sick leave, vacation, or A/T for any time off duty. Such time will be reimbursed upon the City's grant of IOD pay. If such return of documents exceeds seven (7) calendar days, time will not be reimbursed unless a physician's cooperation or lack thereof makes such impracticable. The Employer shall have the responsibility to present necessary documentation to the employee at the time the injury is reported and the employee shall have the responsibility to ensure timely completion of this documentation.

Section 3. Continued Participation. Continued participation in the IOD program is dependent on the employee participating in an injury-related rehabilitation or return-to-work program. If, however, an employee files for temporary total or permanent total disability or is working elsewhere during the time the employee claims to be disabled from his City job, or is found to be performing tasks that are in-conflict with the reported injury; all City benefits will immediately stop (including, but not limited to, the accumulation of sick, vacation or any other leave, eligibility for holiday pay and the Employer's contribution to the employee's pension fund).

Section 4. Eventual Denial of Claim. If, after a Bureau of Workers' Compensation determination or the administrative appeals process, whichever stage finalizes the process, it is found by the Bureau, the Industrial Commission, or a court that the claim is not related to the employee's City job, the employee must reimburse the City for all IOD used by any means available: accumulated sick leave, vacation, or regular biweekly pay deductions. The amount so used must be repaid within a twelve (12) month period.

<u>Section 5.</u> <u>City Denial of Claim.</u> If the City does not certify a claim, the employee will be permitted to use his sick leave or vacation leave, which shall be reimbursed if, after the Bureau determination or the administrative appeal process, whichever stage finalizes the process, it is found by the Bureau, Industrial Commission, or a court that the claim was incurred in the scope of City employment.

<u>Section 6.</u> <u>Vocational Rehabilitation Program.</u> Any employee granted IOD who is referred to a Bureau Vocational Rehabilitation Program will be required to apply for, attend, and fully cooperate with said program. Failure to fully cooperate with the Bureau Vocational Rehabilitation Program may result in loss of IOD benefits.

Section 7. Duration. Wages and all benefits, except sick leave as excluded by Article 22, Section 2, for those off duty on IOD will be continued for up to two thousand six hundred fifty-two (2,652) hours (suppression) or two thousand eighty (2,080) hours (non-suppression). These hours may be non-consecutive in a five (5) year period from the date of injury if all requirements above are met. After that period an employee unable to return to work can file for Workers' Compensation TT, but will not continue to be eligible for City benefits including sick or vacation accrual. Hospitalization benefits for an employee who has exhausted IOD but is unable to return to work will be continued for another six (6) months if the employee continues to provide the City with doctors' reports stating that he is unable to return to work at least one (1) time per month. After exhaustion of this six (6) month period, the City shall treat such as a "reduction of hours" Cobra-qualifying event and make necessary modifications to the employee under COBRA.

Employees on IOD must use their accumulated vacation as required by Article 24, Vacation. The employee's annual vacation usage will extend IOD by the amount of days equal to that allotment. This language does not require that vacation time be taken instead of IOD benefits except in those situations where an employee would otherwise not be able to take vacation within the year the employee is required to use it or lose it.

Section 8. False Claims/Abuse. The City reserves the right to recoup benefit payments to any employee who is guilty of submitting a false claim or abuse of the privilege covered in this article, or

working for another employer while on injury leave, and to take disciplinary action. Examples of what might constitute "abuse" as used in this section, include an employee's refusal to perform the duties associated with his light duty assignment, failure to comply with the terms outlined in this agreement, etc.

Section 9. Light Duty Work. If the employee is able to work in a light duty work assignment, the City may provide work within the Department, if available. An employee working in a light duty assignment will be compensated at his regular rate of pay. Upon an employee's resumption of his or her normal work duties, the affected employee's light duty work assignment shall be terminated. A light duty work assignment shall not exceed sixty (60) days, unless extended by the recommendation of the Fire Chief and approved by the Mayor and Law Director.

A light duty assignment shall not exceed four hundred eighty (480) hours for suppression or three hundred seventy-six (376) hours for non-suppression, unless extended by recommendation of the Fire Chief and approved by the Mayor and Law Director. Time spent working on a light duty assignment due to a work-related injury is counted toward the total amount of IOD payable under Section 7 of this article; however, the employee is able to accrue sick leave.

An employee cannot refuse to accept a light duty assignment. Only an employee's physician may provide evidence supporting an employee's inability to accept a light duty assignment. Upon receipt of such an opinion, the City reserves the right to send an employee for an independent medical examination at the City's expense. If the independent medical examiner determines the employee is able to participate in a light duty assignment, the City will make a determination as to the availability of an appropriate light duty assignment.

ARTICLE 19 OCCUPATIONAL DISEASE

<u>Section 1</u>. The City will re-credit up to sixty (60) days maximum use of sick leave if the occupational disease claim is allowed by the Bureau of Workers' Compensation after the exhaustion of appeals.

ARTICLE 20 LIMITED DUTY

<u>Section 1</u>. The City may provide limited duty, when requested, for employees who have physical limitations due to pregnancy, occupational disease, injuries, or illnesses. In order to be considered for a limited duty request in a non-work related injury situation, the employee must first have exhausted all available paid leave. Limited duty may be provided subject to the following conditions:

A. The availability of limited duty and the ability of the employee to perform the limited duty shall be determined by the Fire Chief or his designee. In assessing the appropriateness/feasibility of such an assignment, the Fire Chief/designee will meet and confer with the labor/management committee. However, assignment shall be subject to the medical approval by the employee's physician and approval of the City's Risk Manager. Denial of such request is final and non-grievable.

- B. An employee who is on limited duty shall immediately notify the department when the employee is available for normal duty and shall give the department a physician's statement indicating that the employee may return to normal duty.
- C. While on limited-duty, the employee may be-required to-undergo-a medical review at the City's expense to determine the continued necessity of limited duty.
- D. Nothing in this article is intended to limit or restrict any rights the City or the employee may have under Workers' Compensation laws or under the IOD section of this Agreement. Additionally, where a light duty assignment is being considered for a case of occupational disease, the employee must provide documentation that he has made an application for disability pension within thirty (30) days of the request for light duty consideration.

ARTICLE 21 HOLIDAYS

<u>Section 1.</u> <u>Designated Holidays</u>. The holiday shall start at the beginning of the shift on that day and end twenty-four (24) hours later. Forty (40) hour employees shall celebrate holidays on the same day as City Hall employees. Suppression employees will follow the holidays as listed below:

1.	New	Year's	Day
	7 10 11	* MART P	~~,

- 2. Martin Luther King Day
- Presidents Day
- 4. Memorial Day
- 5. Independence Day

6. Labor Day

- 7. Columbus Day
- 8. Veteran's Day
- 9. Thanksgiving Day
- 10. Christmas Day

The 11th holiday shall be:

- A. For 51.0-hour employees (suppression) Christmas Eve
- B. For 40-hour employees (non-suppression) Personal Day

<u>Section 2.</u> Holiday Pay Rate. Holiday pay shall be computed at the fifty-one (51.0) hour rate for suppression and at the forty (40) hour rate for non-suppression. An employee who works on a holiday shall receive his normal pay for that day, plus time and three quarters (1 3/4) for all hours worked.

If an employee who worked on the holiday calls off on sick leave the preceding or subsequent shift to a holiday, he shall be paid his normal pay for that day, plus time and one-half (1 1/2) at the fifty-one hour rate for all hours worked on that holiday.

<u>Section 3.</u> <u>Holiday.</u> An employee assigned to suppression, who does not work on his scheduled holiday, but receives his normal pay for that day shall receive twelve (12) additional hours of pay (i.e., holiday pay) at his normal rate of pay, except that an employee reporting off on sick leave on a holiday or the preceding or subsequent shift to a holiday shall not be eligible for the holiday pay.

Any employee assigned to suppression, who is scheduled on the preceding day before or the subsequent day after the holiday and who receives normal pay for that day, shall receive eight (8) hours additional pay at his normal rate of pay, except that an employee reporting off on sick leave on their preceding or subsequent shift to a holiday shall not be eligible for the holiday pay, and an employee reporting off on sick leave on their shift which precedes or follows the paid benefit day will not be eligible for the additional holiday pay.

Section 4. No Pyramiding of Holiday Premium Payments. An employee who is called to work overtime (eight [8] hours or more) on the shift before or after a holiday shall not also be entitled to the eight (8) hours of holiday pay.

Overtime call-out on a holiday will first be offered to those personnel that were scheduled off that day. They will be paid at time and three-quarters (1 3/4) of the fifty-one (51) hour rate. They are not also entitled to the twelve (12) hour pay. If no personnel that were scheduled off accept the overtime assignment, then the regular overtime roster will be utilized. The employee called from that list will be entitled to regular overtime pay.

Section 5. Holiday A/T Time. At the employee's option, the eight (8) or twelve (12) hour pay may be taken in pay or recorded as A/T time. Request to receive eight (8) or twelve (12) hours as A/T time must be made no later than the payroll cutoff date of the pay period in which the holiday occurs. A/T must be liquidated as time off no later than the calendar year following that in which it was earned. Choosing time off may be done any time after vacations for the year have been chosen and will conform to the same policies as that used for FLSA time.

ARTICLE 22 SICK LEAVE

<u>Section 1. Accrual.</u> Suppression shall accrue sick leave at the rate of 6.47 hours per pay, .0634 per hour, not to exceed 168.22 hours per calendar year from January 1 through December 31. Non-suppression shall accrue sick leave at the rate of 4.62 hours per pay, .0577 per hour, not to exceed fifteen (15) days per calendar year from January 1 through December 31. A conversion factor using equivalent hourly rates shall be used to convert sick leave accumulation when changing hours 51 to 40 or vice versa.

<u>Section 2. On Sick/Unpaid Status.</u> Employees may not earn sick leave while on sick leave, IOD, leave of absence, layoff, or off payroll. An employee on sick leave shall be considered as being on the payroll and entitled to all benefits thereof.

Section 3. Maximum Accumulation. Sick leave may be accumulated without limit.

<u>Section 4.</u> <u>Rate of Pay.</u> Sick leave compensation shall be computed at the employee's normal daily or hourly rate at the time absence occurs.

<u>Section 5.</u> <u>Patterned Absence/Abuse.</u> Any employee suspected of abusing sick leave and/or showing a pattern of abuse shall be subject to counseling by the Chief or his designee. Pattern abuse consists of, but is not limited to, absence while on sick leave as evidenced by a frequency or pattern

contiguous with or related to holidays, weekends, reduced hour days, vacation days and/or consistent regular usage, or a method of usage of available sick leave. If suspected abuse/pattern continues after the counseling session, the employee will be subject to disciplinary action.

<u>Section 6.</u> <u>Documentation</u>: The Fire Chief may require an employee-to-furnish a satisfactory written, signed statement to justify the use of sick leave. If medical attention is required, a certificate stating the nature of the illness from a licensed physician shall be required to justify the use of sick leave. Falsification of either a written signed statement or a physician's certificate shall be grounds for disciplinary action, including dismissal.

<u>Section 7.</u> <u>Insufficient Leave.</u> An employee with less than the required minimum number of accrued sick leave hours shall not be paid sick leave without a signed doctor's certificate unless authorization by the Chief.

<u>Section 8.</u> <u>Sick Leave Transfer.</u> Employees hired in the Fire Department on or after September 1, 2008, will not be permitted to transfer any sick leave they accrued during any public employment, other than during prior employment with the City of Youngstown.

Section 9. Non-Use of Sick Leave. The City desires to establish an incentive for employees not to abuse sick leave. Therefore, for each quarter in which an employee does not use his sick leave and maintains a minimum of three hundred twelve (312) hours for suppression or one hundred twenty (120) hours for non-suppression, he shall be entitled to a bonus of one hundred fifty-nine dollars (\$159.00). Quarters are measured in the following monthly increments, January through March, April through June, July through September, and October through December.

The minimum hours requirement for the bonus shall not apply to employees in their first and second year.

The cash bonus for non-use of sick leave is not proratable for severance purposes under any circumstances. If an employee is on leave of any kind for an entire quarter, they are not eligible for non-use of sick bonus for that quarter. An employee otherwise eligible and on IOD for two (2) work shifts or less (per occurrence) within a quarter will remain eligible for that quarter.

<u>Section 10.</u> <u>Bonus Payment Conditions</u>. The payment for non-use of sick leave will be made in the last quarter of the year. An employee who uses sick leave after receiving the bonus shall have the amount of the bonus deducted from his following pay. Any employee disciplined for AWOL shall forfeit the non-use of sick leave bonus for the quarter.

Section 11. Personal Days. Non-probationary suppression bargaining unit employees shall be permitted to utilize twenty-four (24) hours of sick leave as personal time per calendar year; time may be utilized in eight (8), twelve (12), or twenty-four (24) hour increments. Non-probationary non-suppression bargaining unit employees shall be permitted to utilize two sick leave days (sixteen [16] hours) as personal time per calendar year; time may be utilized in four (4) or eight (8) hour increments. The time will be deducted from the employee's sick leave balance. Such usage shall not be counted against the employee's sick leave bonus eligibility, but shall not be permitted to be used the regular shift before, on if applicable, and after a recognized holiday.

Any bargaining unit member who utilizes this benefit shall accrue their normal sick leave accrual while on this type of leave.

"Non-probationary bargaining unit employee" as used herein shall mean an employee who has successfully completed the initial one (1) year probationary period. Upon successful completion of the initial probationary period, the employee may use sick leave as personal time on a pro-rated basis in consideration of the full months remaining in the calendar year.

<u>Section 12.</u> <u>Personal Time Scheduling/Eligibility.</u> Permission for the use of sick leave as personal time must be requested at least seventy-two (72) hours in advance. Approval/denial of requests is subject to the operational needs of the Employer.

ARTICLE 23 ATTENDANCE/SAFETY INCENTIVE PROGRAM

<u>Section 1. Purpose/Scope.</u> In order to promote safety in the workplace, decrease the amount of preventable sick leave usage, and reduce IOD/Workers' Compensation claims, the City will offer to bargaining unit members a leave conversion program as set forth below. The City will evaluate the effectiveness of this program, and should it determine that the program is not achieving the desired results, the City may, at its sole discretion, discontinue the program.

Discontinuation of the program shall be made in writing to Local 312 officials no later than March 31st of the benefit year.

<u>Section 2.</u> Participation Criteria. Bargaining unit members assigned to suppression are eligible to participate in this program provided that they maintain a minimum balance of one thousand (1,000) hours of sick leave. Bargaining unit members assigned to non-suppression are required to maintain a minimum balance of seven hundred fourteen and four-tenths (714.4) hours of sick leave. "Balance" is what an employee has as of December 31 of the program year.

These minimum balances must be maintained in order to qualify for program participation. The conversion of sick leave under this program may not exceed the maximum amounts set forth below or reduce the participant's balance below the minimum amounts described previously. Conversion of sick leave under this program is to be done in minimum increments of one (1) hour.

- Section 3. Conversion/Liquidation Options. An employee who satisfies the criteria for participation and achieves the following goals may convert a maximum of one hundred two (102) hours of sick leave annually utilizing any combination of the following options:
- A. A suppression employee who utilizes no sick leave during a calendar year (January 1-December 31) may liquidate up to thirty-four (34) hours of sick leave at the rate of fifty percent (50%) of his current hourly rate. A non-suppression employee who utilizes no sick leave during a calendar year (January 1-December 31) may liquidate up to twenty-seven (27) hours of sick leave at the rate of fifty percent (50%) of his current hourly rate.

- B. A suppression employee who has no lost time due to a work-related injury claim (IOD) during a calendar year (January 1-December 31) may liquidate up to thirty-four (34) hours of sick leave at a rate of fifty percent (50%) of his current hourly rate. A non-suppression employee who has no lost time due to a work-related injury claim (IOD) during a calendar year-(January-1-December 31) may-liquidate-up-to-twenty-seven (27) hours-of-sick-leave at a rate of fifty percent (50%) of his current hourly rate.
- C. A suppression employee who does not file a claim for workers' compensation during a calendar year (January 1-December 31), in connection with a current incident or a previous/pre-existing claim or condition, may liquidate up to thirty-four (34) hours of sick leave at a rate of fifty percent (50%) of his current hourly rate. A non-suppression employee who does not file a claim for workers' compensation during a calendar year (January 1-December 31), in connection with a current incident or a previous/pre-existing claim or condition, may liquidate up to twenty-seven (27) hours of sick leave at a rate of fifty percent (50%) of his current hourly rate. An employee that has a one-time only, medical only, treat and release claim may still receive this benefit. If an employee files further medical after this benefit is paid, they shall become ineligible for the benefit of section 2(c) for the next year.

<u>Section 4.</u> Payment Maximum/Schedule. The combined amount of sick leave that may be converted shall not exceed one hundred two (102) hours for any given year. Payment will be made during the first quarter following the year in which the employee participated in the program. The parties agree that the first payout will be during the first quarter of 2010 for the 2009 benefit year.

ARTICLE 24 VACATION

<u>Section 1</u>. The length of vacation is determined by an employee's employment anniversary date. This employment anniversary date is determined by the public service of said employee with the City as currently defined in the statutes of Ohio, specifically Ohio Revised Code, Section 9.44, as amended on October 25, 1995. There will be no retroactive adjustments. Each full-time employee shall earn and be granted paid vacation dependent upon the employee earning and accruing such vacation time:

Years of Service	Weeks	Hours (51-hour Schedule)	Hours (40-hour Schedule)
After completion of one (1) year	2	112	80
After completion of five (5) years	3	168	120
After completion of eleven (11) years	4	224	160
After completion of seventeen (17) years	5	280	200
After completion of twenty-three (23) years	66	336	240

<u>Section 2. Vacation Balance</u>. The City will continue to utilize a "use-it-or-lose-it" vacation policy. In conformity with current practice, a firefighter must complete one (1) year of service before being eligible for vacation leave. Upon completion of this one year of service, the firefighter will be

entitled to utilize a pro-rated amount of vacation from the anniversary date until December 31 of the first anniversary year. This prorated amount will be determined by the vacation hours earned from the firefighter's date of hire to December 31 of the initial hire year. Effective January 1 of the next year, the firefighter will be eligible to take the earned amount of vacation as outlined in Section 1 of this article.

<u>Section 3.</u> <u>Vacation Pay.</u> For each week of vacation, the eligible employee shall receive his normal week's pay according to his regular pay scale at the start of the vacation. By agreement between the City and the employee involved, vacation benefits may be liquidated in cash.

<u>Section 4.</u> <u>Scheduling.</u> For scheduling purposes in suppression only, a week will be determined as fifty-six (56) hours per week or seven (7) consecutive calendar days. Each division, bureau or unit shall use bargaining unit seniority for selection of vacation time.

<u>Section 5. Operational Need Denials/Adjustments.</u> The City reserves the right to amend the vacation schedule to ensure the orderly operation of the Department.

<u>Section 6.</u> <u>Transfers.</u> Employees requesting transfer shall accept available vacation periods. Involuntary transfers will not affect vacation selections.

<u>Section 7.</u> <u>Final Year of Employment</u>. Employees in their last year of employment will earn the vacation for that year prorated to date of separation.

<u>Section 8. Illiness/Injury During Vacation Period.</u> An employee who is off work and under a doctor's care for extended sickness or injury may have his vacation rescheduled if his vacation was scheduled to begin before he is able to return to work. This request must be in writing and submitted before the start of the vacation period.

ARTICLE 25 BEREAVEMENT LEAVE

<u>Section 1</u>. Full-time employees shall be eligible for bereavement leave in the event of a death of: a spouse, child (natural or adopted), step-child of current marriage, father, mother, brother, sister, father-in-law, mother-in-law, grandparent, grandchild, brother-in-law, or sister-in-law.

In the case of a grandparent of an employee's spouse, that employee may use up to twelve (12) hours of their sick, vacation, or other accumulated time as time off without penalty to any attendance benefits.

<u>Section 2</u>. Employees assigned to non-suppression duties shall be allowed three (3) scheduled duty days per occurrence. Employees assigned to suppression duties shall be allowed one (1) scheduled duty day per occurrence.

<u>Section 3</u>. Bereavement leave shall only apply when the funeral services, including calling hours, fall on the regularly scheduled days, to be expandable through the use of vacation or A/T upon approval of the Fire Chief.

<u>Section 4</u>. Any employee on vacation or R/H time who is notified of a death in his family for whom bereavement leave may be granted, can apply and receive bereavement leave for the authorized period without the necessity of using his vacation or R/H time for said bereavement.

ARTICLE 26 MATERNITY/PATERNITY LEAVE

<u>Section 1</u>. An employee may, at the discretion of the City, be granted a leave of absence without pay for purposes of child care. Any request must follow the rules contained within the Rules and Regulations of the Youngstown Civil Service Commission or the City's family medical leave (FMLA) policy.

<u>Section 2.</u> <u>Non-Discrimination.</u> All requests for leave of absence without pay for purposes of child care shall be considered on a non-discriminatory basis without regard to the sex of the employee. An adoptive parent's request for leave of absence for purposes of child care shall be considered on the same basis as that of a biological parent under similar circumstances.

<u>Section 3.</u> <u>Substitution of Paid Leave.</u> An employee may request to have leave of absence charged to his sick leave, vacation, reduced hour, accumulated time or without pay.

ARTICLE 27 MILITARY LEAVE

Military leave will be granted pursuant to Ohio Revised Code, Section 5923.05.

ARTICLE 28 HONOR GUARD

<u>Section 1</u>. For every Honor Guard detail that the Chief designates in writing prior to such detail assignment, any Honor Guard member who participates in such detail assignment shall be allowed to accumulate time on the basis of four (4) hours per detail, unless otherwise allowed by the Fire Chief.

<u>Section 2</u>. When assigned by the Fire Chief, any Honor Guard member who engages in Honor Guard detail, either within or outside of the City, shall be considered to have "on duty" status for purposes of Workers' Compensation only.

ARTICLE 29 LONGEVITY

<u>Section 1.</u> <u>Eligibility</u>. All bargaining unit employees hired on or after September 1, 2001, who have completed not less than three (3) full years of service with the City, shall be granted longevity. The longevity fringe benefit remains as provided in Youngstown Codified Ordinance Section 163.30, as amended.

After three (3) years of service

\$65.00 per year completed

<u>Section 2</u>. Any bargaining unit member who is off the payroll and is receiving Workers' Compensation benefits due to a job-related injury, and was ineligible for IOD due to the three hundred sixty-five (365) days or five (5) year timelines, will not lose their longevity pay for that year.

ARTICLE 30 HAZARDOUS DUTY PAY

<u>Section 1</u>. The hazardous duty pay benefit will be as set out in Youngstown Codified Ordinance Section 163.31, as amended, except that payment will be made in January of the given year, and such yearly increment will be eight hundred and five dollars (\$805.00). Effective January 1, 2020, the yearly increment shall be eight hundred and twenty dollars (\$820.00).

ARTICLE 31 UNIFORM ALLOWANCE

<u>Section 1.</u> Amount. Each member shall receive an annual uniform allowance in April of each calendar year in the amount of \$1100 (2021), \$1150 (2022) and \$1200 (2023) Bargaining unit members who quit or are terminated for cause shall be only entitled to a prorated payment for uniform allowance. Any overpayment will be deducted from their overall severance.

Section 2. Last Year of Service. Any payment of severance in the last year of this contract will assume the last contract year value amounts for this benefit. It is agreed by the parties that the earning period for uniform allowances is the year in which it is paid. Proration for those retiring will be from January 1 to the date of resignation. For those who retire after the April uniform allowance, any overpayment will be deducted from their overall severance.

<u>Section 3.</u> <u>New Hires.</u> For those in their first year of employment, the uniform allowance will be prorated from the date of hire to December 31 of that year. An additional \$800 will be provided to newly hired employees along with the prorated amount for initial clothing and gear purchases.

<u>Section 4.</u> Turn-Out Gear. The City will provide one (1) bunker coat and one (1) bunker pant for each new employee. The employee is responsible for the proper care and maintenance of the bunker gear and for the proper repair of such gear except when damage is due to extraordinary circumstances (e.g., hazardous material contamination) as determined by the Fire Chief.

The City will replace up to one (1) bunker coat and up to one (1) bunker pant for an employee whose current gear is determined by the Fire Chief to be unsafe for service.

Any gear purchased by the City shall remain the property of the City and must be cared for as such and surrendered to the City upon retirement or separation from service. Such gear, if in usable condition, may be utilized for another employee in need of gear under this clause.

ARTICLE 32 EDUCATION INCENTIVE/REQUIREMENTS

<u>Section 1.</u> <u>Certification Incentive</u>. The City shall pay an annual incentive to those members assigned by the Fire Chief and functioning in the following state certified capacity: It shall be the employee's responsibility to maintain his certification. Where a bargaining unit member achieves such certification and begins functioning in that capacity during the course of a calendar year, the bonus shall be prorated and paid out in January of the following year.

<u>Section 2.</u> <u>Recognized Certifications.</u> Below are the recognized certifications and corresponding payment amounts offered by the City.

\$1,000	OPOTA (Ohio Police Officers Training Academy)
\$1,000	Level II Arson
\$1,000	Advanced Code Enforcement
\$500	Instructor
\$500	Underground Storage Tanks
\$500	College Degree in fire-related field
\$500	Juvenile Firesetter Certificate
\$500	Fire Inspector Certification
\$500	Plan Review Certificate

<u>Section 3.</u> <u>Maximum Payment.</u> The stacking of certification bonuses shall be limited to \$3,000 maximum.

Section 4. Education/Training Expenses. The City will budget each year not less than seven thousand five hundred dollars (\$7,500) to be dedicated to employee training. The amount of reimbursement shall be the cost to the employee for tuition and books for the course, but shall not exceed \$500 for any employee in a calendar year. In order to qualify for the reimbursement, the employee must have pre-approval by the Fire Chief before the course is taken, satisfactory completion of the course (grade of C or better), and submission of all class materials and/or a synopsis of lessons learned to the training division. Any employee utilizing this benefit does so on his own time. Exchange of work days or use of vacation or other accumulated time may be allowed with prior approval of the Fire Chief.

Certification, continuing education, and seminars for EMTs and Paramedics are not included in the above. It is the employee's sole responsibility to maintain EMT/Paramedic certification to qualify for the bonus.

<u>Section 5.</u> <u>EMT/Paramedic Bonus.</u> Employees who continuously maintain certification as an EMT or Paramedic shall be eligible for an annual certification/continuing education bonus of \$200/EMT and \$300/Paramedic. It shall be the sole responsibility of the employee to obtain and maintain his certification as well as to show proof to the City each January 1 that they have a current valid certification. Failure to maintain, show proof, or not being certified at time of payment will cause the employee to be ineligible for the bonus. For those who achieve a new certification during the year, the bonus shall be prorated from the date of certification to December 31 of that year. The first payment shall be made in January 2010.

Section 6. Training Coordinators. There shall be no less than one (1) person assigned to each shift and daylight to be designated as Training Coordinators. The Battalion Chief assigned to training will utilize personnel who are receiving Fire Instructor Bonus pay (above section 2) as coordinators. Only if a certified instructor does not exist will the Training Chief assign such duty to another person. Only then will that person receive one (1) paid shift off per year in lieu of a bonus.

The Training Chief shall be responsible for the coordination of uniform training of all employees, as well as direct and maintain status of each employee's state mandated continuing education. (Company officers shall continue to be charged with entering performing company level training and recording such into the departmental data base.)

The Training Chief shall meet with Training Coordinators as a group every other month to ensure uniformity in training and may delegate work to them as necessary with the permission of the Fire Chief.

ARTICLE 33 ON-CALL

<u>Section 1</u>. Bargaining unit members assigned to be on-call are expected to be available to respond if called out, within a reasonable proximity so that response will be prompt, and fit for duty during all on-call periods. Failure to respond when on-call will subject an employee to discipline. The on-call investigator will be provided with a City vehicle to take home if the investigator lives within the City or a contiguous City or township.

Employees assigned to the Investigations Unit and the Inspection Bureau shall rotate on-call duty provided they are qualified.

<u>Section 2</u>. An employee required to be on-call shall receive eighty-three dollars and eighty-six cents (\$83.86) during each week that they serve in an on-call capacity. Effective the first full pay period following ratification, the increment shall be ninety-one dollars (\$91.00).

Payment of the above listed on-call pay is subject to the bargaining unit member's adherence to the requirements of Section 1.

ARTICLE 34 CELL PHONES

Section 1. The Chief may require that certain employees be available by cell phone while on duty or on call. For those employees so designated, the City agrees to reimburse twenty dollars (\$20.00) per month for the use and maintenance of their private cell phone.

<u>Section 2</u>. This reimbursement shall replace the issuance of City-owned cell phones. Employees are expected to maintain such phones in good working order, ensure that they are properly charged, and promptly return any calls if contacted. Failure to do so shall require the employee to be issued a city-owned cell phone and they shall not be eligible for this benefit.

ARTICLE 35 JURY DUTY

<u>Section 1</u>. Any employee while serving as a juror on a duty day shall receive full pay and benefits from the City and shall reimburse to the City any pay received from the courts. If not reimbursed to the City within thirty (30) days, the City will deduct the amount from the employee's next pay and the employee may be subject to discipline.

ARTICLE 36 COMPENSATORY TIME (FLSA)

<u>Section 1.</u> <u>Definition.</u> FLSA compensatory time is time earned in lieu of cash payments for work that is considered to be overtime under the F.L.S.A. Compensatory time is carned at time and one half (1 1/2) and banked at straight time.

<u>Section 2.</u> <u>Maximum Accrual.</u> The maximum amount of compensatory time off which may be accrued by an employee is 480 hours. Additional F.L.S.A. compensatory time beyond four hundred eighty (480) hours must be liquidated in cash.

<u>Section 3.</u> <u>Usage/Conversion.</u> An employee who has accrued compensatory time off "shall be permitted to use such time off" within a reasonable period after making the request. The City may deny such request only if it would unduly disrupt the operations of the department.

An employee may choose to liquidate in cash any FLSA time earned in the most recently completed cycle. Such time will be liquidated at the employee's current hourly rate. The employee shall be required to request payment in writing before the end of the first payroll cut-off that follows the cycle that time is being liquidated for.

ARTICLE 37 ACCUMULATED TIME (NON-FLSA)

<u>Section 1</u>. Employees may bank up to two hundred (200) hours (fire suppression) of accumulated time. Effective January 1, 2022, employees may bank up to two-hundred fifty (250) hours (fire suppression) of accumulated time. Effective January 1, 2023, employees may bank up to three hundred (300) hours (fire suppression) of accumulated time. No employee will have the right to accumulate any "accumulated time" in excess of the existing cap. Extra time worked beyond the existing cap shall be paid in the pay period in which they are worked.

All other compensatory time not otherwise liquidated shall be liquidated as determined by the Chief and the employee as follows:

- A. The employee may take additional vacation as allowed by the Chief. Such additional vacation shall be scheduled after the department's annual scheduling of regular vacation.
- B. With at least sixty (60) days advance notice, the employee may draw from his bank and take the time off until retirement.

C. To be liquidated by any other plan agreed to by the City and the employee.

All accumulated time remaining at permanent separation from service shall be paid out at one hundred percent (100%) (at the then current hourly rate at time of separation).

<u>Section 2.</u> Court A/T. An employee who is required to appear in court as a witness on a matter of official duty outside of his normal working hours shall receive a minimum of four (4) hours overtime or accumulated time at the employee's option.

ARTICLE 38 RETIREMENT

<u>Section 1</u>. Upon retirement, death prior to retirement, or termination of City employment for any reason, the City shall pay to the employee or his beneficiary the full value of the employee's accumulated time (A/T), compensatory time, vacation time and thirty-five percent (35%) of the value of accumulated sick time. Benefits shall be paid at the employee's current salary or the salary at the time the benefit was accrued, whichever is greater. The proper designation of the beneficiary shall be made on the forms provided by the City.

Section 2. Death in the Line of Duty. In the event an employee dies in the course and scope of his employment, as defined by the Public Safety Officers Benefits (PSOB) Act guidelines, his beneficiary or his estate shall receive one hundred percent (100%) of his accumulated sick leave, in addition to all other A/T or vacation time earned as set forth above.

<u>Section 3.</u> <u>Service Badge.</u> An employee who retires with fifteen (15) or more years of service will receive his duty badge.

<u>Section 4.</u> <u>Duty Weapon.</u> Each employee with a minimum of fifteen (15) years of service in the Department and who has served five (5) years in the Investigations Unit shall have the option to purchase his duty weapon for the sum of one dollar (\$1.00).

<u>Section 5.</u> Payment of Severance Benefits. Payment of benefits in the final year of the agreement (i.e., longevity, hazardous duty pay, clothing, etc.) will be at the rate of the final contract year.

<u>Section 6.</u> <u>Periodic Separation Payments.</u> A firefighter who has twenty-two (22) years of service with the City and declares his intention to retire to the City may, in the three (3) years preceding retirement, elect to receive payment for his accumulated leave due under Section 1 in three (3) equal payments in May of each year (i.e., one third [1/3] accumulation each year). In order to exercise this option, the employee must notify the Employer of his desire to receive payment prior to November 1 of the year preceding the first year of payment. Thereafter, payments shall be made in the form of a lump sum for three (3) successive years with the final payment being made at the time the employee retires.

ARTICLE 39 PENSION PICKUP

The City shall continue its pension pick-up policy on behalf of all bargaining unit members. The pension pickup plan-will bypass federal and state-income-taxation.

ARTICLE 40 AIR PACK DETAIL

<u>Section 1</u>. Bargaining unit members will be selected for Air Pack Repair detail. Members will be assigned by the Fire Chief.

Section 2. Training. Employees serving on the Air Pack Repair detail will receive training and certification at the City's expense. Bargaining unit members assigned to the Air Pack detail will have the opportunity to earn up to forty-eight (48) hours of A/T time per year. Pre-approved off-duty training will also be compensated in the form of A/T time.

ARTICLE 41 FIREWATCH

<u>Section 1</u>. Persons assigned by the Fire Chief to the Firewatch Program will be given A/T time at time and one-half (1 1/2) for hours spent with program participants after normal business hours. Firewatch instructors will coordinate and have activities pre-approved with the Fire Chief/designee no less than forty-eight (48) hours in advance of the Firewatch programs to be eligible for A/T Time.

ARTICLE 42 HOURS OF WORK

<u>Section 1.</u> <u>Suppression Work Hours.</u> Employees assigned to suppression shall work 0800 to 0800 hours. Chief Officers assigned to suppression shall work 0730 to 0730 hours.

<u>Section 2.</u> Work <u>Day.</u> The normal work day for suppression shall consist of twenty-four (24) consecutive hours on duty followed by forty-eight (48) consecutive hours off duty. The normal workday for non-suppression duties shall consist of eight (8) consecutive hours in a twenty-four (24)-hour period or as assigned by the Chief.

<u>Section 3.</u> Workweek. The twenty-four (24) consecutive hours on duty/forty-eight (48) consecutive hours off duty, creates a scheduled average fifty-six (56) hour workweek. This average workweek shall be reduced to a fifty-one (51) hour workweek as defined in Section 4. The normal week for those personnel assigned to non-suppression shall be made up of five (5) eight (8) hour days in a seven (7) day period.

Section 4. Work Period. The work period cycle will continue to be two hundred twelve (212) hours in a twenty-eight (28) day cycle.

Each employee in suppression will accumulate 10.15 hours per pay period for the purposes of Reduced Hour (R/H) Time. Such time is not accumulated if the employee is off the payroll (i.e., not receiving a pay check). An employee absent due to illness, injury, or in unpaid leave status shall forfeit one (1) R/H day for each thirty-four (34) consecutive calendar days he is absent from duty.

Section 5. Required Scheduling (Suppression). The reduced hours will be taken in increments of one (1) twenty-four (24)-hour tour every twenty-eight (28) day cycle up to the eleven (11) days available. All employees assigned to suppression will be required to schedule no less than one (1) vacation or one (1) R/H day off in any cycle unless otherwise allowed by the Fire Chief.

If anything in Section 4 is found to be illegal by the Department of Labor, after all the appeals have been exhausted, then the work period shall revert back to the twenty-eight (28)-day cycle.

ARTICLE 43 OVERTIME

<u>Section 1</u>. <u>Rate</u>. The overtime rate shall be computed on an hourly rate arrived at on the basis of a forty (40)-hour work week. Employees shall receive one and one half (1 1/2) times their hourly rate (based on forty (40) hours) for each hour or substantial fraction thereof which he works in excess of his normal work day or workweek.

Section 2. Call-Out. Overtime pay will be paid from the beginning of the shift or at the time the employee is called once the shift has started, provided the employee reports to the duty station within thirty (30) minutes after being called. An employee assigned to suppression called in for overtime work shall be paid at least a four (4) hour minimum at the overtime rate of pay. An employee assigned to a 40-hour shift called in for overtime work shall be paid at least a two (2) hour minimum at the overtime rate of pay irrespective of whether or not they are required to work the entire time.

The aforementioned four (4) hour minimum shall not apply to employees:

- A. Held over following the termination of their regular shift.
- B. Required to attend departmental meetings on their off-duty time (paid only for actual time spent in meetings).
- C. Who elect to leave when work is done if the time worked is less than four (4) hours. In that event, overtime pay shall only be paid for actual time worked.
- D. Called prior to the start of his scheduled shift. In that event, overtime pay shall only be paid for actual time worked prior to the shift.

<u>Section 3.</u> Rounding. Pay shall be computed to the nearest tenth of an hour (three-tenths hour minimum).

Section 4. When an employee is held over beyond a regular shift because of tardiness of an oncoming employee, the tardy employee shall forfeit pay equivalent to that paid to the held-over

employee because of said tardiness. There may be exceptions to the above provided a legitimate excuse is submitted and accepted.

Employees shall have the option of receiving their overtime pay in cash or A/T time up to the limits allotted by law.

<u>Section 5.</u> <u>Opportunities.</u> The opportunity for overtime shall be rotated amongst all employees within their divisions by bargaining unit seniority. Bargaining unit seniority will generally be used as the basis for overtime call-outs. The Union agrees that there may be occasion where seniority may not be followed due to unusual circumstances. These occasions should be the exception rather than the rule.

Section 6. Return to Duty Requirement. Employees who have been on sick leave or suspension must have reported back to active status and worked one (1) scheduled day or have one (1) duty day (vacation, R/H) elapsed to be eligible for overtime.

ARTICLE 44 OUT OF CLASS PAY

<u>Section 1</u>. An employee assigned by the Fire Chief or his designee's order to the duties and responsibilities of a higher rank shall be paid at the higher rank rate for that period. No employee is to be assigned the duties of a higher rate except by the Fire Chief or his designee. A period is defined as the hours that the employee is on duty working in the higher classification.

Section 2. No employee shall receive the Fire Chief's rate.

For payroll purposes out of rank hours for an entire pay period shall be adjusted as follows:

96 hours = 102.0 hours 120 hours = 102.0 hours

<u>Section 3.</u> <u>Acting Lieutenant Service Requirement.</u> The rate of pay differential for firefighters working as lieutenants shall not exceed that of a top step firefighter and a lieutenant.

Section 4. Minimum Time Required for Differential Pay. Out of rank shall not be paid for step ups of less than four (4) hours in suppression or one (1) hour in non-suppression. If the employee works more than the four (4) hours or one (1) hour, he will be paid as outlined above for all hours worked.

<u>Section 5</u>. When the Fire Chief is absent, the most senior, off-duty Battalion Chief shall assume the Fire Chief's responsibilities (but shall not assume administrative duties) and be compensated for it in the amount of eight (8) AT hours per twenty-four (24) hour shift or prorated amount if less than a twenty-four (24) hour shift.

ARTICLE 45 PHYSICAL FITNESS

<u>Section 1</u>. The Union will establish and maintain a Physical Fitness Incentive Program to reward employees for physical fitness achievements. The City also agrees to maintain all City-owned health equipment.

<u>Section 2.</u> Physical Performance Evaluations. Voluntary physical agility evaluations shall be conducted in typical fire ground evaluations in accordance with the standards and procedures developed by the department's Safety Officer with Chief's approval. These evaluations shall be for the purpose of assessing the employee's ability to perform his duties with average efficiency. Incentives may be offered by the Fire Chief with Law Department approval. Employees who are participating in the physical fitness evaluation shall be covered for any injury incurred as a result of the evaluation by the City's workers' compensation program.

<u>Section 3.</u> <u>Fitness Fee for Non-Suppression Employees.</u> Each non-suppression employee will be reimbursed one hundred forty-seven dollars and thirty-nine cents (\$147.39) per year for such employee's membership in the Youngstown YMCA upon presentation of proper documentation.

ARTICLE 46 DRIVER'S LICENSE

<u>Section 1.</u> No employee may operate any City-owned vehicle or private vehicle on City business without an unrestricted operator's license required for the particular type of equipment operated. Employees who have court granted waivers to drive to, from or at work while they are under suspension may not operate City equipment regardless of any court exemption. Restrictions for medical reasons (e. g., eyeglasses) are not subject to this policy.

<u>Section 2</u>. Employees must notify their immediate supervisor of any driving restriction no later than the next business or duty day after the restriction is imposed. The supervisor is required to inform the Fire Chief through the proper chain of command. An employee's failure to notify the City of said restriction shall subject the employee to disciplinary action.

<u>Section 3</u>. The department will accommodate employees on driving restrictions or suspension for a period of one hundred eighty (180) days provided, however, if the employee cannot perform his regular duties (driving) he must forfeit the difference in pay through monetary fringes such as R/H, vacation, sick leave at 35%, A/T (to be elected by the employee), or be demoted for the period of suspension or revocation.

ARTICLE 47 DRUG TESTING / EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM

<u>Section 1</u>. The Drug and Alcohol Testing Program described in Appendix B shall apply to all fire personnel. Appendix B is attached to this contract and made a part hereof, as if fully rewritten herein. The parties agree that all bargaining unit employees will be subject to reasonable suspicion and random drug and alcohol screening.

<u>Section 2</u>. Failure to comply with the intent or provisions in Appendix B may be used as grounds for disciplinary action. An employee who refuses to take the drug test shall be terminated from employment. Such termination is non-grievable and non-appealable.

Section 3. The involvement in the crash of a City-owned vehicle or its equipment or the causing of another vehicle to crash may trigger a drug test.

<u>Section 4.</u> <u>Employee Assistance Program.</u> The City and the Union will participate in an employee assistance program with a joint objective of retaining valued, skilled employees and assisting them in restoring their productive lives.

ARTICLE 48 MAINTENANCE OF EQUIPMENT & QUARTERS

Section 1. Equipment. It shall be the duty of each employee having custody of any equipment and property of the City to see that it is properly cared for and maintained in a clean condition and that it is returned to its proper place for storage after use. The City agrees to provide furnishings and will reimburse the cost of, up to five hundred dollars (\$500.00), for the main lounge area TV/VCR/DVD at each station if current equipment fails beyond repair.

<u>Section 2.</u> <u>Quarters.</u> Employees shall continue to do all work necessary for routine building and ground maintenance, including spring cleaning (wall washing where applicable). Employees may request permission to perform approved work and projects which will be of benefit to their working or living conditions within the station to which they are assigned.

<u>Section 3</u>. Employees shall be permitted to bring their personal vehicles into the station, where applicable, after 1630 hours on weekdays, after 1200 hours on Saturdays, and anytime on Sundays and holidays. This privilege is contingent upon the employee signing a liability waiver releasing the Employer for any injury or incident related to work or maintenance activities performed on any personal vehicle regardless of ownership.

It is expressly understood that injuries or incidents connected or related to the performance of work on any personal vehicles, whether owned by the employee or another bargaining unit member, do not occur in the scope of employment with the City of Youngstown. As such, the employee acknowledges that they are not covered by Workers' Compensation, Injury on Duty, Disability Leave, or any other contractual provision meant to apply to injuries sustained in the performance of the employee's job duties.

Section 4. Employees shall be permitted to shop for groceries for duty meals while on duty.

ARTICLE 49 CONTRACT PRINTING

<u>Section 1</u>. The City and the Union will share equally in the cost of the printing of this Contract. The City will provide at no cost a master copy for printing.

ARTICLE 50 OFFICE SPACE

Section 1. The City shall provide the Union with reasonable space for an office.

ARTICLE 51 MANDATORY MESS

The City does require a mandatory mess (meals provided at the fire station for employees on duty). All employees on duty must contribute to the organized mess regardless of whether the employee uses said food service.

ARTICLE 52 PERSONAL VEHICLE

The City agrees to allow the firefighters to drive their personal vehicle for transferring from station to station during working hours provided that the firefighter maintains liability insurance with a minimum coverage of one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000) and the City of Youngstown be added to his policy as an additional insured.

ARTICLE 53 FITNESS FOR DUTY EVALUATIONS

<u>Section 1</u>. If an employee fails to provide a satisfactory medical release establishing that he is fit for duty and able to perform the essential functions of his job, the City may refuse to permit the employee to return to duty until the employee submits a satisfactory release or until the employee is examined by an independent physician who is not employed on a contractual or other basis by the City for a second opinion.

<u>Section 2.</u> Required Exam/Release. The employee will be required to undergo the examination and sign medical releases permitting the independent physician to obtain and review any of the employee's medical records necessary for his evaluation.

<u>Section 3. Leave Usage</u>. The employee will be paid for his time off from work from any accrued leave time he has available which will be reinstated if the independent physician reports the employee may return to work.

<u>Section 4.</u> <u>Disability Separation.</u> If the independent physician reports that the employee is not fit for duty and cannot perform the essential functions of his job, the City shall commence proceedings to involuntarily separate the individual from employment with the City, pursuant to the Civil Service Rules.

Section 5. ADA Interactive Process prior to Disability Separation. If the employee has an ADA recognized disability, the employee will have ten (10) days to advise the City of a reasonable accommodation(s) that the City can make to allow him to perform the essential functions of his job. If no reasonable accommodations can be made, the City will proceed with involuntary disability separation proceedings under Section 4.

ARTICLE 54 PAYCHECK REPORTING/DISCLOSURE

<u>Section 1</u>. <u>Out of Rank Itemization</u>. The City agrees to continue Out-of-Rank pay earned by an employee for a pay period on the itemized list on the payroll check.

<u>Section 2. PCE Deduction.</u> The parties agree that beginning no later than thirty (30) days after the signing of this collective bargaining agreement, the City will allow and provide for Political Contributing Entity (PCE) deductions through the City payroll system for any employee opting to enroll. The contribution will be listed under deductions on the employees' payroll stub. The Union shall provide all necessary documentation for data entry of deductions.

Section 3. Next Payroll Update RFP. The City agrees that in their next Request for Proposals to update the City payroll accounting system, they will include language that will provide for allowing bargaining unit employees to have a second option of deferred compensation program. An employee may have only one (1) plan, but at their option may be either of the two (2) plans. The Union shall provide all necessary documentation to the Finance Department for the alternative plan.

The City further agrees that the RFP will require that deferred compensation contributions appear on payroll as pre-tax deductions. The Union will be provided a copy of the City's RFP.

Section 4. Direct Deposit. Commencing with the first full pay period in January 2012, all bargaining unit employees shall be enrolled in direct deposit for payroll purposes.

ARTICLE 55 TAKE HOME CITY VEHICLE

Employees assigned to the Fire Investigation Unit or Fire Prevention Bureau shall be permitted to take a vehicle home if they reside within the City of Youngstown.

ARTICLE 56 APPLICATION OF CIVIL SERVICE LAW

<u>Section 1</u>. <u>Application of Civil Service Law</u>. Unless otherwise provided for in this contract, the bargaining unit members shall retain all rights reserved to them under Civil Service Law and state statutes. The parties agree that to the extent that they have bargained over and reached agreement over a subject addressed in Ohio Civil Service Law, it is the intent of the parties that such subject shall be governed by the parties' agreement.

<u>Section 2.</u> Notwithstanding the foregoing, the parties agree that the conduct and grading of civil service examinations (as related to the Youngstown Civil Service Commission), the establishment of eligible lists from examinations, and the original appointments from eligible lists are not appropriate subjects for bargaining pursuant to Section 4117.08 ORC, except as provided in Article 13.

ARTICLE 57 DURATION

Section 1. This Agreement will be effective June 1, 2020, through May 31, 2023.

<u>Section 2</u>. Should either party desire to modify or amend this Agreement, it shall give written notice of such intent no earlier than one hundred twenty (120) calendar days prior to nor later than ninety (90) calendar days prior to the expiration date of this Agreement or any re-opener provision contained therein.

SIGNATURE PAGE

For the City of Youngstown	For the IAFF, Local 312
Jamael Tito Brown, Mayor	IAFF President
K. Missel	The Source
Kyle Miasek, Finance Director	IAFF Secretary/Treasurer
ABSENT	4/16
Jeff Limbian, Law Director	HAFF & Vice President
Michael D. Esposito, Chief Negotiator Clemans, Nelson, & Associates, Inc.	IAFF 2 nd Vice-President
•	M
APPROVED AS TO FORM	IAFF Dustee
ATTROVED AS TO FORM	The h
DEPARTMENT OF LAW	IAPP Trustee

APPENDIX A WAGE SCALE

Classification	Annual	<u>Bi-</u> Weekly	51 Hour Rate	40 Hour Rate
Battalion Chief	\$76,136.89	\$2,928.34	\$28.71	\$36.60
Captain	\$66,534.68	\$2,559.03	\$25.09	\$31.99
Chief Inspector	\$66,534.68	\$2,559.03	\$25.09	\$31.99
Chief Fire Investigator	\$66,534.68	\$2,559.03	\$25.09	\$31.99
Lieutenant	\$62,065.29	\$2,387.13	\$23.40	\$29.84
Classification	Annual	Bi- Weekly	51 Hour Rate	40 Hour Rate
Firefighter- Step 10	\$57,913.35	\$2,227.44	\$21.84	\$27.84
Firefighter- Step 9	\$52,523.07	\$2,020.12	\$19.81	\$25.25
Firefighter- Step 8	\$48,771.43	\$1,875.82	\$18.39	\$23.45
Firefighter- Step 7	\$45,019.77	\$1,731.53	\$16.98	\$21.64
Firefighter- Step 6	\$41,268.14	\$1,587.24	\$15.56	\$19.84
Firefighter- Step 5	\$37,516.48	\$1,442.94	\$14.15	\$18.04
Firefighter- Step 4	\$33,764.84	\$1,298.65	\$12.73	\$16.23
Firefighter- Step 3	\$30,013.18	\$1,154.35	\$11.32	\$14.43
Firefighter- Step 2	\$26,797.48	\$1,030.67	\$10.10	\$12.88
Firefighter- Step 1	\$25,725.59	\$989.45	\$9.70	\$12.37
Classification	Annual	Bi- Weekly	51 Hour Rate	40 Hour Rate
Inspector - Step 11	\$62,065.29	\$2,387.13	\$23.40	\$29.84
Inspector - Step 10	\$56,274.73	\$2,164.41	\$21.22	\$27.06
Inspector - Step 9	\$52,523.07	\$2,020.12	\$19.81	\$25.25
Inspector - Step 8	\$48,771.43	\$1,875.82	\$18.39	\$23.45
Inspector - Step 7	\$45,019.77	\$1,731.53	\$16.98	\$21.64
Inspector - Step 6	\$41,268.14	\$1,587.24	\$15.56	\$19.84
Inspector - Step 5	\$37,516.48	\$1,442.94	\$14.15	\$18.04
Inspector - Step 4	\$33,764.84	\$1,298.65	\$12.73	\$16.23
Inspector - Step 3	\$30,013.18	\$1,154.35	\$11.32	\$14.43
Inspector - Step 2	\$26,797.48	\$1,030.67	\$10.10	\$12.88
Inspector - Step 1	\$25,725.59	\$989.45	\$9.70	\$12.37

APPENDIX A (continued)

Classification	Annual	Bi-Weekly	51 Hour Rate	40 Hour Rate
Battalion Chief	\$77,659.63	\$2,986.91	\$29.28	\$37.34
Captain	\$67,865.37	\$2,610.21	\$25.59	\$32.63
Chief Inspector	\$67,865.37	\$2,610.21	\$25.59	\$32.63
Chief Fire Investigator	\$67,865.37	\$2,610.21	\$25.59	\$32.63
Lieutenant	\$63,306.59	\$2,434.87	\$23.87	\$30.44
Classification	Annual	Bi-Weekly	51 Hour Rate	40 Hour Rate
Firefighter- Step 10	\$59,071.62	\$2,271.99	\$22.27	\$28.40
Firefighter- Step 9	\$56,000.03	\$2,153.85	\$21.12	\$26.92
Firefighter- Step 8	\$53,500.03	\$2,057.69	\$20.17	\$25.72
Firefighter- Step 7	\$50,500.04	\$1,942.31	\$19.04	\$24.28
Firefighter- Step 6	\$48,288.03	\$1,857.23	\$18.21	\$23.22
Firefighter- Step 5	\$45,645.03	\$1,755.58	\$17.21	\$21.94
Firefighter- Step 4	\$43,145.03	\$1,659.42	\$16.27	\$20.74
Firefighter- Step 3	\$41,145.03	\$1,582.50	\$15.51	\$19.78
Firefighter- Step 2	\$39,145.03	\$1,505.58	\$14.76	\$18.82
Firefighter- Step 1	\$37,145.03	\$1,428.66	\$14.01	\$17.86
Classification	Annual	Bi-Weekly	51 Hour Rate	40 Hour Rate
Inspector - Step 11	\$63,306.59	\$2,434.87	\$23.87	\$30.44
Inspector - Step 10	\$58,145.03	\$2,236.35	\$21.92	\$27.95
Inspector - Step 9	\$55,645.03	\$2,140.19	\$20.98	\$26.75
Inspector - Step 8	\$53,145.03	\$2,044.04	\$20.04	\$25.55
Inspector - Step 7	\$50,645.03	\$1,947.89	\$19.10	\$24.35
Inspector - Step 6	\$48,145.03	\$1,851.73	\$18.15	\$23.15
Inspector - Step 5	\$45,645.03	\$1,755.58	\$17.21	\$21.94
Inspector - Step 4	\$43,145.03	\$1,659.42	\$16.27	\$20.74
Inspector - Step 3	\$41,145.03	\$1,582.50	\$15.51	\$19.78
Inspector - Step 2	\$39,145.03	\$1,505.58	\$14.76	\$18.82
Inspector - Step 1	\$37,145.03	\$1,428.66	\$14.01	\$17.86

APPENDIX A (continued)

Classification	Annual	Bi-Weekly	51 Hour Rate	40 Hour Rate
Battalion Chief	\$79,601.12	\$3,061.58	\$30.02	\$38.27
Captain	\$69,562.01	\$2,675.46	\$26.23	\$33.44
Chief Inspector	\$69,562.01	\$2,675.46	\$26.23	\$33.44
Chief Fire Investigator	\$69,562.01	\$2,675.46	\$26.23	\$33.44
Lieutenant	\$64,889.26	\$2,495.74	\$24.47	\$31.20
Classification	Annual	Bi-Weekly	51 Hour Rate	40 Hour Rate
Firefighter- Step 10	\$60,548.41	\$2,328.79	\$22.83	\$29.11
Firefighter- Step 9	\$56,000.03	\$2,153.85	\$21.12	\$26.92
Firefighter- Step 8	\$53,500.03	\$2,057.69	\$20.17	\$25.72
Firefighter- Step 7	\$50,500.04	\$1,942.31	\$19.04	\$24.28
Firefighter- Step 6	\$48,288.03	\$1,857.23	\$18.21	\$23.22
Firefighter- Step 5	\$45,645.03	\$1,755.58	\$17.21	\$21.94
Firefighter- Step 4	\$43,145.03	\$1,659.42	\$16.27	\$20.74
Firefighter- Step 3	\$41,145.00	\$1,582.50	\$15.51	\$19.78
Firefighter- Step 2	\$39,145.03	\$1,505.58	\$14.76	\$18.82
Firefighter- Step 1	\$37,145.03	\$1,428.66	\$14.01	\$17.86
Classification	Annual	Bi-Weekly	51 Hour Rate	40 Hour Rate
Inspector - Step 11	\$64,889.26	\$2,495.74	\$24.47	\$31.20
Inspector - Step 10	\$58,145.03	\$2,236.35	\$21.92	\$27.95
Inspector - Step 9	\$55,645.03	\$2,140.19	\$20.98	\$26.75
Inspector - Step 8	\$53,145.03	\$2,044.04	\$20.04	\$25.55
Inspector - Step 7	\$50,645.03	\$1,947.89	\$19.10	\$24.35
Inspector - Step 6	\$48,145.03	\$1,851.73	\$18.15	\$23.15
Inspector - Step 5	\$45,645.03	\$1,755.58	\$17.21	\$21.94
Inspector - Step 4	\$43,145.03	\$1,659.42	\$16.27	\$20.74
Inspector - Step 3	\$41,145.03	\$1,582.50	\$15.51	\$19.78
Inspector - Step 2	\$39,145.03	\$1,505.58	\$14.76	\$18.82
Inspector - Step 1	\$37,145.03	\$1,428.66	\$14.01	\$17.86

APPENDIX B DRUG AND ALCOHOL TESTING

A. Purpose: Notice

- 1. The City of Youngstown has a legal responsibility and management obligation to ensure a safe work environment, as well as paramount interest in protecting the public by ensuring that its employees have the physical stamina and emotional stability to perform their assigned duties. A requirement for employment must be an employee who is free from drug dependence, illegal drug use or drug and alcohol abuse.
- Liability could be found against the City and the employee if the City fails to address and ensure that employees can perform their duties without endangering themselves or the public.
- 3. There is sufficient evidence to conclude that use of illegal drugs, the misuse of drug and drug, or alcohol dependence seriously impairs an employee's performance and general physical and mental health. The illegal possession and use of drugs and narcotics by employees is a crime in this jurisdiction and clearly unacceptable.
- 4. Firefighters carry out safety sensitive functions and are thus subject to greater scrutiny for the use of illegal drugs or the abuse of drugs or alcohol.

B. Definitions

- 1. "Employee" means all union personnel employed by the City in its Fire Department.
- 2. "Safety sensitive functions" means all time an employee is at work or required to be in readiness for work.
- 3. "Reasonable suspicion" means an apparent state of facts, circumstances or information which exists from an inquiry by the supervisor or from a creditable source which would induce a reasonably intelligent and prudent person to believe the employee was under the influence or using drugs/narcotics.

C. General Rules

- 1. Employees shall not take any narcotics or dangerous substances unless prescribed by a person licensed to practice medicine. Employees who are required to take prescription medicine shall notify their immediate supervisors of the medication prescribed and the nature of the illness or injury. Any statutory defined illegal use of drugs by an employee, whether at or outside Gity employment, shall not be tolerated.
- 2. All property belonging to the City is subject to inspection at any time without notice as there is no expectation of privacy. Property includes, but is not limited to, City-owned vehicles, desks, containers, files, and storage lockers.

- Employees who have reasonable basis to believe that another employee is illegally using drugs or narcotics shall report the facts and circumstances immediately to their supervisor.
- 4. Failure to comply with the intent or provisions of this section may be used as grounds for disciplinary action. Refusal by an employee to take the required drug test or follow the regulations prescribed in this section shall result in immediate relief from City duties pending disposition of any administrative personnel action.

D. Policy - Drug Testing and Alcohol Testing

Pre-Employment Testing

All prospective appointees for any position in the Fire Department will be routinely tested for drug or narcotic usage. The testing procedure and safeguards set forth in this section shall be followed. Applicants testing positive for drugs or refusing a drug test shall not be hired.

Reasonable Suspicion Testing

Reasonable suspicion drug and/or alcohol testing will be required if a supervisor or management person has reasonable suspicion to believe that a covered employee is under the influence of alcohol or drugs using illegal drugs, or had a substance abuse problem. Employees to be tested under reasonable suspicion shall be driven to the test site by a supervisor.

A supervisor who orders a drug or alcohol test when there is a reasonable suspicion of the use of alcohol or any drug or narcotic shall forward a report containing the facts and circumstances directly to the department head. The employee shall be verbally advised of any applicable reasonable suspicion at the time of the test and receive a written statement of the same reasonable suspicion within twenty-four (24) hours of the test.

Post-Accident Testing

Post-accident testing for drugs and alcohol will be required after accidents occurring while an employee is carrying out safety sensitive functions in the following circumstances:

Any accident involving a fatality; any moving vehicle accident in which the employee driver is cited and there is disabling damage to the vehicle(s) requiring tow-away; or any moving vehicle accident in which: the employee driver is cited and off-site medical treatment is required: for any drivers or passengers.

Random Testing

Up to five percent (5%) of all covered employees may be randomly tested for alcohol per year and twenty percent (20%) may be randomly tested for drugs per year.

All covered employees will be included in a computer-based random selection pool and names of employees selected for testing shall be returned to the random pool after testing to ensure that each employee's chances of being selected are the same.

Return to Duty Testing and Follow-up Testing

Any employee who tests positive on a drug or alcohol test must be evaluated, treated, and must successfully complete a drug or alcohol treatment program and be given a return to duty test with passing results as a condition for returning to duty. The alcohol test result must be less than 0.04 BAC, and the controlled substance test must be negative. After testing positive for drugs and returning to duty, the employee will be subject to random urinalysis at any time for a two (2) year period.

Alcohol Testing Procedures

Alcohol tests shall be by breathalizer (EBT) administered by a certified Breath Alcohol Technician (BAT). A breath alcohol content (BAC) of 0.04 shall be considered a positive test.

The test shall take place at a location that assures privacy and denies access to unauthorized individuals. The employee will provide photo ID and has the right to request ID of the BAT. A copy of the result will be provided to the employee.

A confirmation test will be required of any result showing an alcohol concentration level of 0.04 or greater. Positive test results shall be immediately transmitted to an employer representative in a confidential manner.

An employee testing 0.04 or above shall be removed from duty for no less than twenty- four (24) hours. If an employee testing 0.04 or above was driven to a testing site by a supervisor, the supervisor shall drive the employee home after testing or the employee may choose to contact a family member or other individual to drive him/her home. If the employee drove himself/herself, the employee will remain at the test site until a supervisor arrives to drive the employee home. The employee shall be responsible to make arrangements for his vehicle left at work or the testing site.

Drug Testing Procedure

Drug testing shall be by urinalysis for the presence of metabolites of cannabinoids (marijuana), cocaine, opiates, amphetamines, methamphetamine, oyxcodone (oxycotin), propoxyphene, benzodiazepines, barbiturates, methylenedioxmethyl amphetamine (Ecstasy) and phencyclidine;) (PCP), and such other controlled substances as warranted by statutory updates/societal changes. A "split sample" method of collection will be used. The primary specimen shall be subject to an instant testing method. The foregoing drugs test positive at the following thresholds:

Drug	Initial Screening	Confirmation
Cannabinoids (marijuana)	50 ng/ml	15 ng/ml
Cocaine	300 ng/ml	150 ng/ml
Non-Prescribed Steroids	N/A	N/A
Methamphetamine	1,000 ng/ml	500 ng/ml
Amphetamines	1,000 ng/ml	500 ng/ml
Opiates	2,000 ng/ml	2,000 ng/ml
Oyxcodone (oxycotin)	100 ng/ml	100 ng/ml
Propoxyphene	300 ng/ml	300 ng/ml
Benzodiazepines	300 ng/ml	300 ng/ml
Barbiturates	200 ng/ml	300 ng/ml
Methylenedioxmethyl amphetamine (Ecstasy)	500 ng/ml	500 ng/ml
Phencyclidine (PCP)	25 ng/ml	25 ng/ml
Non-Prescribed Steroids/anabolic Steroids	200 ng/ml	200 ng/ml
Non-Prescribed Vicodin	N/A	N/A
Methadone	300 ng/ml	300 ng/ml
6-Acetylmorphine	10 ng/ml	10 ng/ml

In the event that the primary specimen tests positive, a confirmatory test will be performed. The confirmatory test shall be performed by a DHHS certified laboratory. An employee may request a re-test within seventy-two (72) hours of being informed of a positive result and may have the retest performed at a different DHHS certified laboratory at the employee's cost.

Urine collection for controlled substances shall be at a collection site which shall have in place sufficient security measures to ensure that no unauthorized personnel handle specimens or gain access to the laboratory process or to the area where records are stored, and shall use chain of custody procedures and chain of custody forms. The date, time, and purpose of handling or transfer and every individual in the chain of custody shall be identified and documented.

Specimen collection shall occur in a private setting and procedures shall be used that do not demean, embarrass, or cause physical discomfort to the employee. The collection site technician shall be of the same sex as the employee to be tested. The employee will provide photo ID.

A tamper-proof seal shall be used on the containers and they shall be labeled with the date and the employee's identifying number, and shall be initialed by the employee. The employee shall also be required to sign a certification on the custody and control form that the sample is his.

The laboratory shall report test results in a manner ensuring confidentiality to the employer's Medical Review Officer (MRO).

The MRO shall report only that the test was positive or negative, and if positive, for which drugs. However, the MRO may reveal the quantitational test results to the employer, the employee or decision maker in a lawsuit, grievance, or by other proceedings initiated by or on behalf of the employee and arising from a verified positive drug test.

The MRO will contact the employee directly, where possible, for a medical interview prior to verifying a test result as positive.

Any employee shall upon written request have access to any records relating to his or her drug test.

Refusal to Test

An employee's refusal will be considered as a positive test. Refusal includes failure to appear for any test or to remain at the testing site until testing is completed; refusal to sign the prescribed form(s); failure to provide sufficient breath or urine sample to complete the test without adequate medical explanation for the failure; failure to undergo a medical evaluation directed by the MRO; failure to cooperate with any part of the testing process; and having an adulterated or substituted test result.

Any person refusing to take a pre-employment test will not be hired. An employee refusing to take a return to duty test cannot be returned to duty.

Required Evaluation and Treatment

No covered employee known to be using drugs, or known to have tested positive for drugs shall be permitted to perform or continue to perform safety-sensitive functions.

Any covered employee found to have engaged in prohibited drug or alcohol use shall be informed of available resources to evaluate and resolve problems with the misuse of alcohol and drugs and provided with a list of substance abuse professionals and counseling and treatment programs.

The covered employee must be evaluated by a substance abuse professional (SAP) to determine what assistance, if any, the employee needs; must follow any rehabilitation program prescribed; must be evaluated to determine that he has properly followed said rehabilitation program; and, after a determination that he has successfully complied with an education and/or treatment program, must pass a return to duty alcohol or drug test.

Discipline

A. Employees who have tested positive on a drug and/or alcohol test shall be subject to disciplinary action. If the employee agrees to enter and successfully complete a rehabilitation program, the disciplinary action will not exceed thirty (30) calendar days for

the first offense. Thereafter, for a period of two years, the employee shall be subject to random urinalysis at any time.

- B. Covered employee who tests positive, for a second time, on an above-defined drug and alcohol test, will be subject to immediate termination.
- C. Refusal to test, follow-up positive drug or alcohol tests, or failure to successfully complete a rehabilitation program will subject a covered employee to immediate termination.

Costs

The cost of an employee requested retest of a urinalysis sample and the cost of an alcohol or drug rehabilitation program (including testing while in a rehabilitation program) required under this policy after a positive drug or alcohol test result, shall be the responsibility of the employee.

An employee who tests positive on a drug or alcohol test, and cannot return to work pending a negative re-test or completion of a drug or alcohol rehabilitation program, will be required to use accrued paid vacation or personal leave, accrued paid sick or medical leave, or unpaid leave pursuant to the City of Youngstown's Family Medical Leave Act Policies and Procedures.

APPENDIX C IOD/WORKERS' COMPENSATION PROVIDERS

Note: The attached list represents the City's list of approved providers for IOD. This list will be updated in January of each year.

Anyone requesting a physician not on the list must contact the Union so that the request can be forwarded to the City for consideration.

Y OF YOUNGSTOY)/WORKERS' CON SATION PROVIDERS

ialty of an inches	Facility Name	Provider Name	Address Blog PS 0102 M ASH BOLD TR.	City	Phone	Hours	POR?	Sub Specialty
- a. 1(8:278%)	BERTARE AND THE PROPERTY OF T	中的 部分中的 完全是10万	是1997年的自由日本的	" 以推荐的"高特	[集合成50000]	美国联盟国际国际	7000	的。與阿特特的學科學是與阿特德
I Treatment/Ortho	Youngstown Orthopedics Urgent Care	Substitute of the State of the	1499 Boardman-Canfield Rd	Boardman (131)	330-758-0577	M-F.11am-7pm; Sat 9-2	NO.	Sprains/Strains/Musculoskeletal
I Treatment/Ortho	Youngstown Orthopedics Urgent Care		1695 Niles Contland NE STE 2	Warren	330-758-0577	M-F 11am-7pm	NO	Sprains/Strains/Musculoskeletal
Treatment	Steward Immediate Care/WorkMed		20 Ohltown Road	Austintown	330-884-1500	M-F 8-8; Sat 8-4; Sun 8-1	YES	
	Steward WorldMed		60 Marwood Circle Ste B	Boardman	330-884-1500	M-F 9am - 4pm	YES	
	MercyHealth Urgent Care		1950 Niles Cortland Road	Warren	330-856-4151	M-S 8am-8 pm	NO	
w up Occ								
h/Urgent Care	Steward Immediate Care/WorkMed		20 Ohltown Road	Austintown	330-884-1500	M-F 8-8; Sat 8-4;	YES	
			L			Sun Bam-1pm		
	Steward WorkMed		60 Marwood Circle Ste 8	Boardman	330-884-1500	M-F 9am-4pm	YES	
	Youngstown Orthopedics Urgent Care		1499 Boardman-Canfield Rd	Boardman	330-729-2723	M-F 12-8 Sat 9-2	NO	
	MercyHealth Urgent Care		1950 Niles Cortland Road	Warren	330-856-4151	M-S 8am-8 pm	NO	
	910 Rapid Care		910 Boardman-Canffeld Road	Boardman	330-965-0075		YES	
	Mercyficalth Occupational Boardman		45 McClurg Road	Boardman	330 729-1480	By Appointment	YES	
	MercyHealth Occupational Howland		1950 Niles Cortland Road	Warren	330-306-5030	8am-4:30 pm by appt.	YES	
pedics	Youngstown Orthopedics		6470 Tippecanoe Road Building A	Canfield	330-758-0577	By Appt	YES	
			1499 Boardman-Canfield Road B	Boardman	330-758-0577	By Appt	YES	
			1695 Niles-Cortland Road NE	Warren	330-758-0577	By Appt	YES	
	7174 417	Leslie Schwendeman MD	Building A and Howland				YES	Hand/Upper Extremity
A		James Solmen MD	Building A and Howland				YES	Foot/Ankle
		David Weimer MD	Building B and Howland				YES	Hip/Knee
		Thomas Joseph MD	Building A and Howland				YES	General
		Michael Miladore MD	Building A and Howland				YES	Hand/Upper Extremity
		K. Seth Kuwik MD	Building B and Howland				YES	Hip/Knee
		James Shaer MD	Building A and Howland	100			YES	General
		Douglas Musser	Building B				YES	Spine
		James Jamison MD	Building B and Howland				YES	Knee
		Joseph Stefko MD	Building A and Howland				YES	Shoulder
		James Kerrigan MD	Building A				YES	General
	MercyHealth Boardman Orthopedics		835 McKay Court	Boardman	330-758-4399	By Appt	YES	
		Jeffrey Johnston MD				By Appt	YES	General
		Thomas Boniface MD				By Appt	YES	General
		Adrian Butler MD				By Appt	YES	Hand/Upper Extremity
		Raymond Boniface MD				By Appt	YES	General
	University Orthopedics		1335 Belmont Avenue	Youngstown	330-747-2700			
		John J. Stefancin MD				By Appt	YES	General
-		Raymond S. Duffett				By Appt	YES	General
	St. Elizabeth Orthopedics		1044 Belmont Avenue	Youngstown	330-480-3990	By Appt	YES	General
		Tyson Schrickel MD		- Jungarumii		By Appt	YES	General
	***	John Vincent Gentile MD				-1.4%	YES	General/Trauma

Y OF YOUNGSTOWN)/WORKERS' COMPENSATION PROVIDERS

		-					7 30	
		1	and the street format	Hubbard	330-534-5400	By Appt	YES	General
	1	James Boniface MD	880 W. Liberty Street	Hubdard	330-334-3400	ву Аррг	163	General
	UH-University Hospital		11100 Euclid Avenue	Cleveland	216-844-7200	8y Appt	- 1	THE REST OF
	OH-Oniversity Hospital		1000 Aubum Drive	Beachwood	210-01-7200	of whit	110	
	+		960 Clague Road	Westlake	1	-	1.00	
	-			Mayfield	-		- 15	
	-	Nicholas Ahn MD	730 Som Center Road	ivigytieio	216-884-7200	By Appt	NO	Orthopedic Spine
_					216-844-7200		NO	Orthopedic Spine
	- 3	Christopher Furey MD			844-746-8537	By Appt	NO	Orthopedic Shoulder
_	-	Reuben Gobezie MD			844-140-8557	By Appt	NU	Orthopeatc shoulder
	0.00.00.00		are or provide plane	Pandana		1		
	Southwoods Hospital	Frank Grisafi MD	250 DeBartolo Place	Boardman	330-314-9070	By Appt	ND	Orthopedic Spine
10	+				_		NO	Orthopedic Spine
		Brian Shannon MD	-		330-314-9070	By Appt	NU	Orunopeaic spine
	e. I terit		9799 C . 174 S	et a street	-			
	Cleveland Clinic	Lambert Pr. 117	9500 Euclid Avenue	Cleveland	and can page	Du tone		
_		William Bingaman MO		-	216-636-5860	By Appt		Neurosurgeon
-		Edward Benzel MD			216-636-5860	By Appt		Neurosurgeon
		lain Kalfas MD			216-636-5860	By Appt		Neurosurgeon
		Adrian Zachary DO MPH		-	216-636-5860	By Appt		Spine Health
		Deborah Venesy MD	The state of the s	1	216-636-5860	By Appt		Spine Health
							110	11 12 17 17 18
	MercyHealth		DI DI				100	
	9/ 3/ 10	Kene Ugokwe MD	S40 Parmalee Avenue STE 510	Youngstown	330-743-1928	By Appt	NO	Neurosurgeon
		Darspreet Singh Kainth	540 Parmalee Avenue STE S10	Youngstown	330-743-1928	By Appt	NO	Neurosurgeon
			La contract of the contract of				1,110	1 1/2 1923 48
	Crystal Clinic		3925 Embasssy Pkwy Ste 200	Akron	330-668-4055	By Appt	YES	auti strains 2
		John Biondi MD	010				100	Upper Edrenity/Hand
		John W. Dietrich MD						Upper Edremity/Hand
311		Rafal Stachowicz MD					100	Upper Extremity/Hand/Shoulder
		Douglas Ehrler MD					130	Spine
146		William Pakan MD					1/0/0	Shoulder/knec/hip
			1					1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
	H.A.N.D.S	Daniel Ebert MO	1485 E. Western Reserve Road	Poland	330-757-1495	By Appt	1.600	Hands
	31 15		11/				120	
or	200 - 100	Andria D'Amato DC	45 Manor Hill Dr Suite 300	Canfield	234 414-7130		1400	
		Troy Bury DC	4030 Boardman-Canffeld Road	Canfield	330-702-5555	By Appt	YES	Chiropractor
14		Adrian D'Amato DC	841 Southwestern Run Ste 2	Potand	330-629-9292	By Appt	YES	Chiropractor
-	Maria de la companya della companya						100	- F 120 - 11E
101	Akros Burn Unit		300 Locust Street Suite 560	Akron	330-434-5341	By Appt	YES	Burns
70	MetroHealth Burn Unit		2500 MetroHealth Drive	Cleveland	215-778-7800	Ву Аррт	YES	Burns
					1.07.000	1-1.00	(810	
1111			81		1			
			01	1			200	
ology/	Eye Care Associates		1075 W. Western Reserve Road	Poland	800-322-8889	By Appt	YES	Ophthalmology/Optometry
OLOPA1	FLE CUIC WOOMPHED		2013 W. WESTERN MESERYE KORO	POWING	DOC-355-0093	D4 Whit	1163	Objective in strain and All Obsorbers

			10 Dutton Drive	Youngstown				
		H. S. Wang MD						
		Keith Wilson MD			n .			
		Sergul Erzurum MD						
		Lyn Yakubov MD			1			
		John Aey MD						
		Sarah Smith MD						
		Augustine Kellis MD						
		Guy Barrett OD					1	
		Thomas Grischow OD						
		Chad Schultz OD						
		Gene Johnson MD						
		Shawn Lewis MD						
		Joseph Coney MD			1			
		William Bartolovich OD						
		Robert Gerberry OD				1		
		Julieta Ryder MD						
ical Medicine	All Points Physical Medicine/Rehab		822 E. Western Reserve Road	Poland	330-758-8223	By APPT	YES	Physical Medicine & Rehab
			1695 Niles Cortland Road NE	Warren	330-758-8223	By APPT	YES	Physical Medicine & Rehab
			225 E. State RYE 14 STE 206	Columbiana	330-482-6063	By APPT	YES	Physical Medicine & Rehab
		Ron Yarab Jr. MD						
		Michael Engle MD						
		Sean McGrath MD			1			
Management	Southwoods Pain Management		250 DeBartolo Place	Boardman	330-758-9100	By APPT	NO	Pain Management
					1	By APPT	NO	Pain Management
		Michael Corfias MD			330-758-2748			
		Shawn Donatelli DO	1		330-758-2748			
	St. Elizabeth Paln Management		1044 Belmont Avenue	Youngstown	330-758-1065	By APPT	NO	Pain Management
		Ronald Prizant MD		The state of the s				
				100				
	Cyril Pain Clinic	1	909 Shara Trail Suite B	Youngstown	330-729-0111	By APPT	NO	Pain Management
-			1621 E. Market Street Suite A	Warren	330-856-2881	By APPT	NO	Pain Management
		George Andrews MD						
		Dina Hanna MD						
			-				1	
ology	Youngstown Neurology	Donald Tamulonis JR MD	1340 Belmont Avenue Ste 2200	Youngstown	330-746-7400	By APPT	NO	Neurology
					1			
c Surgery	Garritano & Lewis MD	Robert Lewis MD	4139 Boardman-Canfield Rd STE 2	Canfield	330-533-6999	By APPT	NO	General/Plastic Surgery
		Daniel Garritano MD			-	-		
					1	-		
	1/2	Louis Lyras MD	7645 Market Street STE 200	Boardman	330-726-0156	By APPT	NO	General/Plastic Surgery
	2	Peter Devito MD	7600 Southern Blvd STE 2	Boardman	330-758-3985	By APPT	NO	General/Plastic Surgery
		Salim El-Hayek MD	515 N. Meridian Road	Youngstown	330-799-1861	Ву АРРТ	NO	General/Plastic Surgery

TY OF YOUNGSTOWN D/WORKERS' COMPENSATION PROVIDERS

100		Mounir Awad MD	755 Boardman-Canfield Rd STE A1	Boardman	330-726-8861	By APPT	NO	General/Plastic Surgery
		Marie Alexander-Awad M	0755 Boardman-Canfield Rd STE A1	Boardman	330-726-8881	By APPT	NO	General/Plastic Surgery
							168	1 22 34 3
eral Surgery	D'Amico Patchen Surgery Inc	Patrick Patchen MD	8601 E. Market St.	Warren	330-856-6201	By Appt	NO	General/Plastic Surgery
	10 10	Lawrence D'Amico MD	8601 E. Market St.	Warren	330-856-6201	By Appt	NO	General/Plastic Surgery
troenterology		Sayed Yoself MD	3304 Stones Throw Avenue	Poland	330-707-1115	By Appt	NO	Gastroenterology
-			- 77				(100)	1-11-1180 4698
mal Medicine	18 (p.	Ernest DeChellis DO	3002 State Route 5	Cortland	330-637-1000	By Appt	YES	General/Family/Internal Medicine
	The state of the s	Thomas Detesco MD	7341 Eisenhower Road	Boardman	330-726-1138	By Appt	YES	General/Family/Internal Medicine
		Anthony Lattanzio DO	20 Ohltown Road STE 202	Austintown	330-884-1563	By Appt	YES	General/Family/Internal Medicine
			91				110	
Imenary	Eastern Ohio Pulmonary Consultants		960 Windham Court	Boardman	330-726-3357	By Appt	NO	Pulmorary
			1353 E. Market Street	Warren	330-726-3357	By Appt	NO	Pulmonary
		Rebecca Bailey MD	11				1.0	
		Ritha Kartan MD				1	7 15	13 [2] 10 [3] 10
		Lawrence Goldstein MD						COLUMN NO.
		Anthony Boules MD	111					- 1 10 10
201		Manual Bautista MD	- 11				- 10	111111111111111111111111111111111111111
iatric	Podiatric Physician & Surgeon Inc.	Edward Cosentino DPM	603 N. State Street	Girard	330-545-4993	By Appt	NO	Podlatry
		Phillip Balmenti DPM	827 McKay Court	Youngstown	330-758-1422	By Appt	NO	Podiatry
	8 - 11 -	James Prommersberger Di		Youngstown	330-726-3348	By Appt	NO	Podiatry
							18	
avioral Health	NorthEast Behavioral Health LLC		3821 Starr's Centre Drive STE B	Canfield	330-533-3102	By Appt	YES	Psychology/Psychiatry
3011		Jessica Szenborn MS LPCC			1		1 1 1 1 1	14 174 115 1
		Karipineni Prasad MD	and the same of th	-		-	110	
		Steven King MD	725 Boardman-Canfield Rd STE D	Youngstown	330-783-9690	By Appt	NO	Psychology/Psychiatry
		Rajendra Prasad Koirala M	725 Boardman-Canfield Rd STE D	Youngstown	234-254-0612	By Appt	NO	Psychology/Psychiatry
tistry		Patrick Haggerty DDS	3700 Stutz Drive	Canfield	330-702-0373	By Appt	NO	Dentist
		Mark Billy DDS	5437 Mahoning Avenue	Austintown	330-792-2501	By Appt	NO	Dentist
15.1			7641 Market Street STE 1	Boardman	330-758-6757	By Appt	NO	Dentist
			The street street street	Dogramen	3307304737	DY APPL	110	DERGE!
natology		Roop Kellipara MD	540 Parmalee Avenue 5TE 410	Youngstown	330-707-4553	By Appt	NO	Dermatology
III III III III III III III III III II		Noop Rompara Nito	1280 Boardman-Canfield RD	Boardman	330-629-2494	By Appt	NO	Dermatology
		Susan Woods MD	20 Ohltown Road	Youngstown	330-884-1557	By Appt	NO	Dermatology
ogy	Advanced Urology Inc	Justin Woods into	904 Sahara Trail	Youngstown	330-758-9787	By Appt	NO	Urology
- 10	The state of the s		3915 E. Market Street	Warren			NO	Urology
		John McEiroy MD	JAN C. MAINEL JUCCE	tenticu	330-609-5243	By Appt	NO	OLGINE'S
		Paul Musselman MD	11			-		
		radi musseiman MD	01			-		
				-	-	100		
					-			7 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
						1		The state of the s

APPENDIX D GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

NO		NION
STEP	D	EPARTMENT AND/OR DIVISION
	D	ATE FILED
DATE RECEIVE	D BY THE CITY OF	YOUNGSTOWN
NAME OF PERS	ON RECEIVING SAM	ME
NAME OF GRIE	VANT	
POSITION HELI	D	
CURRENT ASSI	IGNMENT	
		Y TO PROVE YOUR GRIEVANCE, PLEASE INDICATI
	MENT IS NECESSAR	
5111115		
DESCRIPTION	OF GRIEVANCE, INC	CLUDING DATE:
-		
	4.2	
REMEDY DESI	RED	
_		
UNION REPRES	ENTATIVE	GRIEVANT
ONION REFIRE	ENTATIVE	GRIEVANT
DATE		
COPIES TO:	CDIEVANT. D	RESIDENT OF UNION: DEPARTMENT HEAD
COFIES 10.	MAYOR'S DESI	

APPENDIX D (Continued) GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

CITY OF YOUNGSTOWN RESPONSE TO GRIEVANCE

NO	STEP
NAME OF RESPONDENT	
RANK AND/OR DESIGNATI	ON TO PROCESS GRIEVANCE
DATE OF HEARING	
REPRESENTATIVE	O HEARING BEFORE DEPARTMENT HEAD OR HIS
DISPOSITION	
	SIGNATURE WITH RANK OR DESIGNATION
	DATE

APPENDIX D (Continued) GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

CITY OF YOUNGSTOWN MAYOR'S DESIGNEE DECISION

NO	STEP
DATE RECEIVED	BY MAYOR'S DESIGNEE
NAME OF GRIEV	ANT
DISPOSITION	
	SIGNATURE OF PERSON DISPOSING OF GRIEVANCE
	DATE DISPOSED

COPIES TO: GRIEVANT; PRESIDENT OF UNION; DEPARTMENT HEAD; MAYOR'S DESIGNEE

APPENDIX D (Continued) GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

CITY OF YOUNGSTOWN GRIEVANCE FORM SUMMARY AND DISPOSITION SHEET

NO	STEP
DEPARTMENT	AND/OR DIVISION
NAME OF GRI	EVANT
DATE FILED _	
SIGNATURE C	OF PERSON RECEIVING SAME FOR CITY
(THIS GRIEVANCE IS SETTLED
(THIS GRIEVANCE IS NOT SETTLED
į	☐ I APPEAL TO THESTEP
(I DO NOT WISH TO APPEAL
	☐ I APPEAL TO THE DEPARTMENT HEAD
1	☐ I APPEAL TO THE MAYOR'S DESIGNEE
	☐ I APPEAL TO ARBITRATION
COMMENTS _	
	LINION REPRESENTATIVE

APPENDIX E INSURANCE BENEFITS SCHEDULE

Summary of Benefits and Coverage: What this Plan Covers & What You Pay For Covered Service

Coverage Period 02/01/2021 - 01/31/2022

UnitedHealthcare*

Choice Plus Plan

Coverage for Family | Plan Type: PS1

The Summary of Benefits and Coverage (SBC) document will help you choose a health <u>plan</u>. The SBC shows you how you and the <u>plan</u> would share the cost for covered health care services. NOTE: Information about the cost of this <u>plan</u> (called the <u>premium</u>) will be provided separately.

This is only a summary. For more information about your coverage, or to get a copy of the complete terms of coverage, call 1-866-633-2445 or visit <u>welcometouho com</u>. For general definitions of common terms, such as <u>allowed amount, balance billing, consurance, copayment, deductible, provider, or other underlined</u> terms see the Glossary. You can view the Glossary at <u>www healthcare gov/sbc-glossary/</u> or call 1-866-487-2365 to request a copy.

Important Questions	Answers	Why This Matters:		
What is the overall deductible? Are there services covered before you meet your deductible?	Network: \$500 Individual / \$1,000 Family Non-Network: \$1,000 Individual / \$2,000 Family Per calendar year. Yes. Preventive care and categories with a copay are covered before you meet your deducable.	Generally, you must pay all of the costs from providers up to the deductible amount before this plan begins to pay. If you have other family members on the plan, each family member must meet their own individual deductible until the total amount of deductible expenses paid by all family members meets the overall family deductible. This plan covers some items and services even if you haven't yet met the annual deductible amount. But a copayment or consurance may apply For example, this plan covers certain preventive services without cost-sharing and before you meet your deductible. See a list of covered services at www healthcare gov/coverage/preventive-care-benefits/.		
Are there other deductibles for specific services?	No	You don't have to meet <u>deducables</u> for specific services.		
What is the <u>out-of-pocket</u> <u>limit</u> for this <u>plan</u> ?	Network: \$3,900 Individual / \$6,000 Family Non-Network: \$5,000 Individual / \$12,000 Family Per calendar year	The <u>out-of-pocket limit</u> is the most you could pay in a year for covered services. If you have other family members in this <u>plan</u> , they have to meet their own <u>out-of-pocket limits</u> until the overall family <u>out-of-pocket limit</u> has been met.		
What is not included in the out-of-pocket limit?	Premiums, balance-billing charges, health care this plan doesn't cover and penalties for failure to obtain preauthorization for services.	Even though you pay these expenses, they don't count toward the <u>out-of-pocket</u> firmt.		
Will you pay less if you use a <u>network provider</u> ?	Yes. See <u>myuho.com</u> or call 1-866-633-2446 for a list of <u>network providers</u> .	You pay the least if you use a <u>provider</u> in the Designated <u>Network</u> . You pay more if you use a <u>provider</u> in the <u>Network</u> . You will pay the most if you use an <u>out-of-network provider</u> , and you might receive a bill from a <u>provider</u> for the difference between the <u>provider's</u> charge and what your <u>plan</u> pays (<u>balance billing</u>) Be aware, your <u>network provider</u> might use an <u>out-of-network provider</u> for some services (such as lab work). Check with your <u>provider</u> before you get services.		
Do you need a <u>referral</u> to see a specialist?	No	You can see the specialist you choose without a referral.		

Page 1 of 7

All <u>copayment</u> and <u>coinsurance</u> costs shown in this chart are after your <u>deductible</u> has been met, if a <u>deductible</u> applies

Common Medical Event		What You Will Pay			
	Services You May Need	Network Provider (You will pay the least)	Non-Network Provider (You will pay the most)	Limitations, Exceptions, & Other Important Informatio	
If you visit a health care <u>provider's</u> office or clinic	Primary care visit to treat an injury or itness	\$15 copay per visit, deductible does not apply	20% consurance	Virtual visits (Telehealth) - No Charge by a Designated Virtual Network Provider. No virtual coverage non-network If you receive services in addition to office visit, additional copays, deductibles or consurance may apply e.g. surgery.	
	<u>Specialist</u> visa	\$20 copay per visit, deductible does not apply	20% consurance	If you receive services in addition to office visit, additional copays deductibles or coinsurance may apply e.g. surgery	
	Preventive care/screening/ immunization	No Charge	20% coinsurance	You may have to pay for services that aren't preventive. Ask your <u>provider</u> if the services needed are preventive. Then check what your <u>plan</u> will pay for	
If you have a test	<u>Diagnostic test</u> (x-ray, blood work)	Designated Network No Charge Network Officionsurance	20% coinsurance	Preauthorization is required non-network for certain services or benefit reduces to 50% of allowed amount.	
	Imaging (CT/PET scans, MRIs)	0% coincurance	20% coinsurance	Preauthonzation is required non-network or benefit reduces to 50% of allowed amount.	

Page 2 of 7

^{*} For more information about limitations and exceptions; see the plan or policy document at welcometoutic com.

Common Medical Event		What You Will Pay			
	Services You May Need	Network Provider (You will pay the least)	Non-Network Provider (You will pay the most)	Limitations, Exceptions, & Other Important Informa	
If you need drugs to treat your illness or condition More information about prescription drug coverage is available at welcometouts.com Option Tier 2 – Your Cost Option Tier 3 – Your Cost Option	Tier 2 – Your Mid-Range	Retail: \$15 copay, deducable does not apply. Mail-Order: \$30 copay, deducable does not apply. Retail:, \$30 copay, deducable does not apply. Mail-Order: \$60 copay, deducable does not apply.	Retail: 50% coinsurance with a \$60 copay minimum, deductible does not apply Retail: 50% coinsurance with a \$60 copay minimum, deductible does not apply	Provider means pharmacy for purposes of this section. Retail: Up to a 31 day supply Mail-Order: Up to a 90 day supply You may need to obtain certain drugs, including certain speciality drugs from a pharmacy designated by us. Certain drugs may have a preauthorization requirement may result in a higher cost. If you use a non-network pharmacy (including a mail ord pharmacy), you may be responsible for any amount over allowed amount. Certain preventive medications (including certain	
	Tier 3 – Your Mid-Range Cost Option	Retail: \$60 copay, deductible does not apply Mail-Order: \$120 copay, deductible does not apply	Retail: 50% coinsurance with a \$60 copay minimum, deductible does not apply	contraceptives) are covered at No Charge See the website listed for information on drugs covered by your plan. Not all drugs are covered. You may be required to use a lower-cost drug(s) prior to benefits under your policy being available for certain prescribed drugs.	
	Specialty drugs	25% coinsurance with a \$250 copay maximum, deductible does not apply	25% consurance with a \$250 copay maximum, deductible does not apply.	If a dispensed drug has a chemically equivalent drug at a lower per, the cost difference between drugs in addition to any applicable copay and/or consurance may be applied.	
If you have outpatient surgery	Facility fee (e.g., ambulatory surgery center) Physician/surgeon fees	0% coinsurance	20% coinsurance	Preauthorization is required non-network for certain services or benefit reduces to 50% of allowed amount. None	
If you need Immediate medical	Emergency room care	\$150 copay per visit, deductible does not apply	\$150 copay per visit, deductible does not apply	None	
attention	Emergency medical transportation	0% coinsurance	*0% coinsurance	'Network deductible applies	

^{*} For more information about limitations and exceptions, see the <u>plan</u> or policy document at <u>welcometcuhe com</u>

Common Medical Event	51-	What You	Will Pay		
	Services You May Need	Network Provider (You will pay the least)	Non-Network Provider (You will pay the most)	Limitations, Exceptions, & Other Important Information	
	Urgent care	\$35 copay per visa, deductible does not apply	20% consurance	If you receive services in addition to <u>Urgent care</u> visit, additional <u>copavs</u> <u>deductibles</u> , or <u>coinsurance</u> may apply e.g. surgery.	
If you have a hospital	Facility fee (e.g., hospital room)	0% consurance	20% consurance	Preauthorization is required non-network or benefit reduces to 50% of allowed amount.	
stay	Physician/surgeon fees	0% coincurance	20% consurance	None	
If you need mental health, behavioral health, or substance abuse services	Outpatient services	\$15 <u>copay</u> per visit, <u>deductible</u> does not apply	20% coinsurance	Network Partial hospitalization/intensive outpatient treatment: 0% coincurance Preauthorization is required non-network for certain services or benefit reduces to 50% of allowed amount	
	Inpatient services	0% coinsurance	20% consurance	Preauthorization is required non-network or benefit reduces to 50% of allowed amount.	
If you are pregnant	Office visits Childbirth/delivery professional services	No Charge	20% consurance	Cost sharing does not apply for preventive services. Depending on the type of service a <u>copayment</u> , <u>coinsurance</u> or <u>deductible</u> may apply. Maternity care may include tests and services described elsewhere in the SBC (i.e. utrasound)	
	Childbirth/delivery facility services	0% coinsurance	20% coinsurance	Inpatient preauthorization applies non-network if stay exceeds 48 hours (C-Section: 96 hours) or benefit reduces to 50% of allowed amount.	
If you need help recovering or have other special health	Home health care	0% <u>coincurance</u> \$20 <u>copay</u> per visit, <u>deductible</u> does not apply	20% consurance	Limited to 60 visits per calendar year. Preauthorization is required non-network or benefit reduces to 50% of allowed amount. Limits per calendar year: Physical, Occupational, 30 visits each, Pulmonary: 20 visits; Speech: 20 visits, Cardiac: 36 visits.	
needs	Habilitative services	\$20 ccpay per visit, deductible does not apply	20% consurance	Services are provided under and limits are combined with Rehabilitation Services above.	

^{*} For more information about limitations and exceptions, see the plan or policy document at welcometoutic com.

	What You Will Pay			
Services You May Need	Network Provider (You will pay the least)	Non-Network Provider (You will pay the	Limitations, Exceptions, & Other Important Informati	
Skilled nursing care	0% coinsurance	20% <u>coinsurance</u>	Limited to 60 days per calendar year (combined with inpatient rehabilitation). Preauthorization is required non-network or benefit reduces to 50% of allowed amount.	
Durable medical equipment	0% <u>coinsurance</u>	20% consurance	Covers 1 per type of DME (including repair/replacement) every 3 years Preauthorization = required non-network for DME over \$1,000 or no coverage	
Hospice services	0% coinsurance	20% consurance	Preauthorization is required non-network before admission for an Inpatient Stay in a hospice facility or benefit reduces to 50% of allowed amount.	
Children's eye exam	\$30 <u>ccpay</u> per visit, deductible does not apply	50% consurance	Limited to 1 exam every 24 months.	
Children's glasses	Not Covered	Not Covered	No coverage for Children's glasses.	
Children's dental check-up	Not Covered	Not Covered	No coverage for Children's Dental check-up.	
	Skilled nursing care Durable medical equipment Hospice services Children's eye exam Children's glasses	Services You May Need Network Provider (You will pay the least) Skilled nursing care O% coinsurance Durable medical equipment O% coinsurance Hospice services O% coinsurance S30 copay per visit, deductible does not apply Children's glasses Not Covered	Services You May Need Not Network Provider (You will pay the least) Non Network Provider (You will pay the least)	

Acupuncture Banatnc surgery Cosmetc surgery Dental care Glasses Hearing aids Infertility treatme Long-term care Non-emergency the U.S.	Private duty nursing Routine foot care Except as covered for Diabetes Weight loss programs
---	--

^{*} For more information about limitations and exceptions, see the <u>plan</u> or policy document at <u>welcometouthc.com</u>

Page 5 of 7

Vour Rights to Continue Coverage. There are agencies that can help if you want to continue your coverage after it ends. The contact information for those agencies is:

U.S. Department of Labor, Employee Benefits Security Administration at 1-865-444-3272 or www.dol.gov/ebsa, or the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services at 1-877-267-2323 x61565 or www.coio.cms.gov. Other coverage options may be available to you too, including buying individual insurance coverage through the Health Insurance Marketplace. For more information about the Marketplace, visit www.HealthCare.gov.or.call 1-800-318-2596

Your Grievance and Appeals Rights. There are agencies that can help if you have a complaint against your plan for a denial of a claim. This complaint is called a grievance or appeal. For more information about your rights, look at the explanation of benefits you will receive for that medical claim. Your plan documents also provide complete information on how to submit a claim, appeal, or a grievance for any reason to your plan. For more information about your rights, this notice, or assistance, contact, the Member Service number listed on the back of your ID card or myuho.com or the Employee Benefits Security Administration at 1-866-444-3272 or dol gov/ebsa/healthreform.

Additionally, a consumer assistance program may help you file your appeal. Contact dol gov/ebsa/hea/threform

Does this plan provide Minimum Essential Coverage? Yes

Minimum Essential Coverage generally includes plans, health incurance available through the Marketplace or other individual market policies. Medicare, Medicare Medicard, CHIP TRICARE, and certain other coverage. If you are eligible for certain types of Minimum Essential Coverage, you may not be eligible for the premium tax credit.

Does this plan meet the Minimum Value Standards? Yes

If your plan doesn't meet the Minimum Value Standards, you may be eligible for a premium tax credit to help you pay for a plan through the Marketplace.

Language Access Services

Spanish (Español): Para obtener asistencia en Español, llame al 1-866-633-2446

Tagalog (Tagalog): Kung kallangan ninyo ang tulong sa Tagalog tumawag sa 1-866-633-2446

Chinese (中文): 如果需要中文的帮助。请被打这个号码 1-866-633-2446.

Navajo (Dine): Dinek'ehgo shika at'ohwol ninisingo, kwijigo holne' 1-866-633-2446.

To see examples of how this plan might cover costs for a sample medical situation, see the next section

* For more information about limitations and exceptions, see the <u>plan</u> or policy document at <u>welcometouho.com</u>

Page 6 of 7

About these Coverage Examples



This is not a cost estimator. Treatments shown are just examples of how this plan might cover medical care. Your actual costs will be different depending on the actual care you receive, the prices your providers charge, and many other factors. Focus on the cost sharing amounts (deductibles, copayments and consurance) and excluded services under the plan. Use this information to compare the portion of costs you might pay under different health plans. Please note these coverage examples are based on self-only coverage.

Peg is Having a Baby (9 months of in- <u>network</u> pre-natal care and a hoxpital delivery)		Managing Joe's type 2 Dial (a year of routine in-network care of controlled condition)		Mia's Simple Fracture (n- <u>network</u> energency room visit and follow up care)	
■ The plan's overall deductible	\$500	■ The plan's overall deductible	\$500	■ The plan's overall deductible	\$500
■ Specialist copay	\$20	■ Specialist copay	\$20	■ Specialist copay	\$20
■ Hospital (facility) coinsurance	0%	■ Hospital (facility) coinsurance	0%	 Hospital (facility) coinsurance 	0%
Other coinsurance	0%	■ Other coinsurance	0%	■ Other <u>coinsurance</u>	0%
This EXAMPLE event includes service specialist office visits (pre-natal care) Childborth/Delivery Professional Service Childborth/Delivery Facility Services Diagnostic tests (ultrasounds and bloc Specialist visit (anesthesia) Total Example Cost	ces	This EXAMPLE event includes service Pnmary care physician office visits (inclueducation) <u>Diagnostic tests (blood work)</u> <u>Prescription drugs</u> <u>Durable medical equipment (glucose medical Example Cost</u>	ding disease	This EXAMPLE event includes se Emergency room care (including me Diagnostic test (x-ray) Durable medical equipment (crutche Rehabilitation services (physical the Total Example Cost	edical supplies) es)
In this example, Peg would pay:		In this example, Joe would pay:		In this example, Mia would pay:	
Cost Sharing		Cost Shanng		Cost Sharing	
Deductibles	\$500	Deductibles	\$150	Deductibles	\$500
	\$10	Copayments	\$900	Copayments	\$300
Copayments	4.4				\$0
Copayments Coinsurance	\$0	Consurance	\$0	Consurance	30
Proceedings of the Control of the Co		Consurance What isn't covered	\$0	Consurance What isn't covered	The same of the sa
Coinsurance			\$0	and the second s	The same of the sa

The <u>plan</u> would be responsible for the other costs of these EXAMPLE covered services.

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING "ME TOO" CLAUSE

If total general wage increases for the top rate of pay for the bargaining unit members of the Youngstown Patrolmen Association ("YPA") are greater than four and one-half percent (4.5%) for 2022 and 2023, the top rate of pay for the classifications of firefighter, inspector, and the promoted ranks of the Youngstown Professional Firefighters, IAFF Local 312 ("IAFF") shall additionally receive the difference between the total YPA general wage increases for the top rate of pay and the total general wage increases previously agreed to between the City of Youngstown and the IAFF for the 2022 and 2023 period for the top rate of pay for the classifications of firefighter, inspector, and the promoted ranks, under the same (or as similarly as possible) terms as the YPA.

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING

The City of Youngstown ("the City") and the Youngstown Professional Firefighters, IAFF Local 312 ("IAFF") hereby agree, on a non-precedent setting basis, to waive the terms under Article 13, Promotions, Section 1 of the Collective Bargaining Agreement ("CBA"), that state, "Subsequent hiring of additional employees after an involuntary assignment shall not act as a waiver of the mandatory five (5) year requirement," as it applies to the current assignments of Firefighters Alex Sepesy and Chase Kovacs ("FF Sepesy" and "FF Kovacs"). Specifically, the City and the IAFF agree that if and when the City hires new employees to the Youngstown Fire Department, FF Sepesy and FF Kovacs shall be permitted to return to line/response firefighter positions, if they so choose, and the resulting Inspector vacancy shall be filled in accordance with Article 13, Section 1 of the CBA. If a vacancy results from FF Sepesy and/or FF Kovacs returning to line/response firefighter position(s), and the least senior employee (i.e., new hire) must be assigned to the Inspector position, the IAFF agrees to reimburse the City the course costs of FF Sepesy and/or FF Kovacs obtaining State Certification for Inspector if the new hire assigned to the Inspector position does not already hold the State Certification for Inspector.

